
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Wednesday, 19th September, 2018

10.00 am

Darent Room - Sessions House





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Wednesday, 19th September 2018, at 10.00 
am

Ask for: Theresa Grayell

Darent Room - Sessions House
Telephone 03000 416172

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Ms J Bayford, Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Mr J Dumigan, 
Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, 
Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Ida Linfield, 
Mr G Lymer, Ms C Mutton, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith, 
Ms S Vaux 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

1 Membership 
The Panel is asked to note that:

 Ida Linfield has replaced Trudy Dean on the Panel. 

 Sue Dunn, Head of Skills and Employability, has retired from the County 
Council and so has left the Panel. 

 Teresa Carpenter has resigned as a Kent Foster Carer and so has left the 
Panel. 

 Julianne Bayford and Justin Dumigan have joined the Panel as Foster 
Carer representatives.

2 Apologies and substitutes 

3 Election of Vice-Chairman 



To elect a new Vice-Chairman as Trudy Dean has left the Panel.

4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 19 July 2018 (Pages 5 - 16)

5 Chairman's Announcements 

6 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 17 - 18)

8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 19 - 28)

9 Report on children and young people in Cookham Wood Young Offenders 
Institute (YOI) and Medway Secure Training Centre (STC) (Pages 29 - 34)

10 Annual Report 2017 to 2018 - Adoption Services (Pages 35 - 64)

11 Review of the 18 Plus Care Leavers Service (Pages 65 - 74)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 

which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

Tuesday, 11 September 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room - 
Sessions House on Thursday, 19 July 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr M A C Balfour (Substitute for Mrs S 
Prendergast), Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Mrs L Game, 
Mr R Graves, Ms S Hamilton, Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Mr J P McInroy 
(Substitute for Mrs S Gent), Mr M J Northey, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith and 
Ms S Vaux

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

85. Motion to exclude the press and public for exempt business 

RESOLVED that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1 
and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

EXEMPT ITEMS (open access to minutes)

86. The views of Young People in Care 
(Item 1)

As it had not proved possible to arrange a party of young people to attend the first 
part of the meeting, a film which had been made at participation and activity days 
earlier in 2018 was shown instead.  

The film showed children in care enjoying singing, dancing and circus skills at activity 
days, with a voiceover by the participants and the VSK apprentices who had 
arranged the events and made the film.  

Reece Graves told the Panel how the film had been made and thanked the County 
Council’s IT team for their help with editing.   

The Chairman said it was always good to hear about the activities and networking 
opportunities that young people enjoyed at meetings of the various Children in Care 
Councils, and to be able to see and share the events was most enjoyable. She 
thanked the VSK apprentices for their work in setting up events and in filming them to 
share with the Panel.   

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS (meeting open to the press and public)

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



87. Apologies and Substitutes 

Apologies form absence had been received from Trudy Dean, Louise Fisher, Sue 
Gent, Stuart Griffiths, Geoff Lymer and Shellina Prendergast. 

Matthew Balfour was present as a substitute for Shellina Prendergast and James 
McInroy as a substitute for Sue Gent.  

88. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 1 June 2018 
(Item 3)

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 June 2018 are correctly 
recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.  There were no matters arising. 

89. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 4)

The Chairman welcomed Sarah Vaux, Chief Nurse of Medway Clinical 
Commissioning Group, and Nicola Anthony, Interim Head of Fostering, to their first 
meeting of the Panel.  

The Chairman advised the Panel that plans were in hand to invite a new foster carer 
rep to join the Panel in place of Carolyn Moody.  

The Chairman told Reece Graves that she had heard very good feedback from a 
Youth Advisory Group about his contribution at a recent conference.      

90. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 5)

1. Sophia Dunstan and Reece Graves showed a second film, made by the VSK 
apprentices, about work to counter the stigmas of being in care. This had been 
shown at the VSK Talent Showcase on 1 June 2018, with the aim of emphasising the 
skills, interests and hobbies of children in care and that their care status played no 
part in how they defined themselves.     

2. They then gave a verbal update on the work of the OCYPC, the Super Council 
and Young Adult Council and forthcoming participation events. The text of the update 
will be attached to these minutes. They and Mr Doran then responded to comments 
and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) a recent Young Adult Council meeting had raised the issue of the need for 
a new name for the care leavers service, and it was planned that a 
competition be held to find a new name; 

b) two new VSK apprentices were shortly to start work; Tia (16) would start at 
the end of July and Rob (19) would hopefully start shortly after;   

c) a list of participation events taking place between July and December was 
tabled, with an invitation to the annual Children in Care Council Summer 
Celebration on 1 August 2018, and both were later circulated to all Panel 
members by the Democratic Services Officer. Mr Doran explained that 

Page 6



VSK had a small nominal budget to cover events, which had been 
generously topped up over the years by elected Members, using their 
personal allowances; 

d) when tackling stigma, it was important to achieve a balance between being 
a good corporate parent and respecting a young person’s privacy, between 
making reasonable allowances for someone’s care status and not putting 
them down because of it.  Sophia explained that one-to-one sessions 
between a teacher and child in care could lead to more stigma.  What 
would help was group sessions of pupils and teachers; 

e) teachers needed to be aware of children in care, appreciate their 
circumstances and be realistic about their expectations of them. This 
awareness could be included in teacher training courses.  A child in care 
would be visited at school by their social worker for their regular review 
meetings, so to keep their care status a secret from teaching staff or other 
pupils in the class was simply not possible; 

f) another speaker disagreed and asserted that teachers should not know 
which pupils in their school were in care, and, in that way, could not show 
any bias in the way in which they treated them, or the expectations they 
had of them. Teacher training in the 1980s would have taken this 
approach but the culture seemed since to have changed to one of 
teachers being made aware. This had led to children in care being treated 
differently. Another speaker, who had also trained as a teacher at about 
the same time, agreed that, once a teacher knew about a child’s status, 
they were bound to treat them differently;

g) Mr Doran added that behaviour management was not much taught as part 
of teacher training courses but was a fundamental part of a good teacher’s 
skills. He suggested that raising awareness and understanding of issues 
faced by children in care, for example, trauma and attachment issues, 
would need a whole-school approach. Some pilot schemes were exploring 
this but there was need for more such schemes. In all of this, however, the 
privacy of children in care would need to be protected and they should not 
be seen to be treated differently from their peers;

h) Sophia said that teachers should be aware of children in care and be 
trained in how to support them and how not to overcompensate for their 
care status, but should not reveal information about a child’s care status to 
other pupils. Reece added that teachers’ treatment of a child’s care status 
was not the only problem; playground gossip and name-calling were also a 
big problem. The Chairman agreed that teachers needed to be sensitive 
around activities relating to Mothers’ Day and Fathers’ Day. Mr Doran 
added that teachers were now expected to know about the pupils they 
were teaching, to be fully aware of children with an e.PEP and to tailor 
their teaching to take account of this. It was important to remember that 
children in care were as different from each other as any other group of 
children; all were individuals and needed to be treated as such;     

i) a suggestion was made that, to raise awareness of stigma issues among 
all corporate parents, the film about stigma be shown at a full County 

Page 7



Council meeting. The Council, as corporate parent, should be seen to be 
tackling the issue of stigma by raising the awareness of all its elected 
Members as corporate parents, and could be smart about using the media 
to do this. The Chairman supported this suggestion and added that local 
sports personalities and TV celebrities who had been in care could be used 
as role models and examples of positive outcomes for children in care; and

j)  the issue of stigma and realistic expectations extended beyond children in 
care and applied also to children from areas of deprivation.  It was 
important to set realistic and appropriate targets for expected progress and 
have a workable method of measuring progress.  Mr Doran explained that 
the former national curriculum had previously provided this overall 
framework, but measuring progress now would be more difficult.  VSK was 
working with the County Council’s Management Information Unit to 
establish a new way to measure progress.  He added that children’s routes 
into care varied and that every cohort of children going through education 
was different and would be difficult to ‘measure’. There was always the risk 
that having a specific, different set of targets applied to a child in care 
might add to the stigma they felt. A complex range of mapping and 
benchmarking might be required to measure progress in sufficient detail 
and in a meaningful way, and the National Association of Virtual Head 
Teachers was looking at this issue. It was suggested that either the 
Corporate Parenting Panel or the Children, Young People and Education 
Cabinet Committee could look into this issue in greater detail.  An item was 
subsequently placed on the Panel’s work programme.     

3. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks.

91. Challenge Card update - Lifelong Links 
(Item 6)

Ms C Barton, Family Group Conferencing team, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Smith and Ms Barton introduced the report and gave some examples of 
the sort of links which had been established using the Lifelong Links project. They 
responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) one benefit of the project was that it could help children and young people 
to be clear of their identity and understand their route into the care system.  
They could be supported to own and manage their care status;

b) many children in care were known to try to trace relatives using Facebook, 
but the Lifelong Links project offered them a safer way to trace and make 
contact; and

c) the Lifelong Links project had been established very quickly after being the 
subject of a Challenge Card, and Mr Dunkley thanked the team for their 
swift work in setting it up.  The project was an example of the sensible and 
achievable measures which could be put into place as a result of the 
Challenge Card process.

Page 8



2. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Roger 
Gough, expressed his support for the Lifelong Links project. 

3. Referring to a previous Challenge Card, the rent guarantor scheme for private 
rents and university accommodation, Ms Hammond advised the Panel that the 
scheme had now launched its pilot with a cohort of 25 young people.  She clarified 
that the scheme was not for paying deposits on property as this was already an 
established practice, but to support young people as they established themselves as 
tenants.  Ms Smith added that Kent’s guarantor scheme had been very well received 
by other local authorities, and some, including Medway Council, were looking into 
establishing something similar. More detail of the way in which the County Council 
supported young people leaving care would be covered in the report on 
accommodation options at item 10 on the agenda (see minute 95 below).  

4. It was RESOLVED that:

a) the progress of the Lifelong Links project be welcomed; 

b) the availability of the Lifelong Links project to all Kent children and young 
people in care who meet the criteria be noted; 

c) an update report on the project be submitted to a future meeting of the 
Panel.   

92. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item 7)

1. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Roger 
Gough, gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Private Fostering Week – this aimed to publicise and promote the arrangement 
wherein young people could be cared for by adults who were not part of their 
immediate family, rather than being placed with foster carers employed by the County 
Council. The County Council needed to be notified of such an arrangement being 
made so it could verify that the arrangement was suitable for the young person 
concerned and provide appropriate support. In the last twelve months, the County 
Council had received 94 such notifications.  
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) figures – these remained low 
(and were lower than in the same period in 2017) but with the small rise that was 
normally expected over the warmer summer months while travel was easier. There 
had been 20 referrals in June and 6 so far in July. Many of the most recent arrivals 
had been from Eritrea. There were currently 227 UASC in the care of the County 
Council and 886 UASC aged 18 and over. 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) Conference - 28 June 2018 – 
this had taken place at Oakwood House and had been a very useful opportunity for 
Kent to share its experiences of caring for UASC with other local authorities and for 
them to learn from Kent’s approach. Two former asylum seeking young people had 
spoken well at the conference, including a young man who had previously presented 
to the Panel.      
Care Leaver Progression Partnership Conference - late June – Mr Gough had 
opened this conference and taken the opportunity to promote the Lifelong Links 
project and Kent’s rent guarantor scheme.  The conference had also discussed 

Page 9



stigma and expectations, with the message that high expectations could be delivered.   
Two very successful former children in care, one from the USA and one from the UK, 
had spoken.  The speaker from the USA was from Illinois, which, incidentally, had a 
very similar care population to the whole of England. 
VSK Talent Showcase – 1 June 2018 – this had been excellent, and was much 
enjoyed by those who attended. 
Awareness of corporate parenting role of elected Members – work was in hand 
to boost the understanding of the corporate parenting role beyond those Members 
who served on either the Corporate Parenting Panel or the Children, Young People 
and Education Cabinet Committee and to help them to be the best corporate parents 
they could be.

2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted, with thanks.  

93. Performance Scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 8)

Mrs M Robinson, Management Information Service Manager, was in attendance for 
this item.

1. Mrs Robinson introduce the report and explained that all of the services were 
performing above the floor standard and that none had a red rating.

2. It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the children in care scorecard 
be noted and welcomed. 

94. The National Fostering Stocktake - Foster Care in England:  a review for 
the Department for Education by Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers - February 
2018, and the County Council's Fostering Service Business Plan, 2018 - 2019 
(Item 9)

Ms N Anthony, Interim Head of Fostering, was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Smith introduced the report of the Stocktake undertaken by Martin Narey 
and Mark Owers. She and Ms Anthony responded to comments and questions from 
the Panel, including the following:-

a) asked if it was still the aim to keep sibling groups together, as Mr Narey 
seemed to be suggesting that this practice not always be followed, Ms 
Smith explained that the hope was that siblings would always be kept 
together, if at all possible. However, for practical reasons, it was 
occasionally necessary to separate a larger family to find suitable 
placements. When a family came into care, an early assessment was 
made and a care plan drawn up for each child.  Babies and very young 
children were more likely to be adopted, so would be placed with this 
ultimate aim in mind, while older siblings were harder to adopt and so 
would be more likely to stay together in foster care. Practically, larger 
groups of siblings were harder than smaller groups to place together; 
  

b) concern was expressed that older siblings would have developed the role 
of looking after their younger siblings and would wish to be able to continue 
this familiar arrangement.  Ms Smith pointed out that some older siblings 

Page 10



may have taken on the parenting role of younger siblings as a necessity 
due to the shortcomings of their own parents, and such an arrangement, 
although familiar, may not be in the best interests of the older child as they 
would miss out on their own childhood. Ms Smith assured the Panel that 
siblings would always be able to maintain contact with each other, in a way 
which best suited them. Decisions about placement and contact would 
always be made on a case-by-case basis. Ms Anthony added that the 
Council was seeking to recruit foster carers who were able to take on 
sibling groups so more could be kept together, as long as that was judged 
to be in the children’s best interests. Ms Hammond added that only Kent 
children were placed with Kent foster carers; 

c) regret was expressed that County Councillors no longer served on 
Adoption Panels, as this had given Members an opportunity to understand 
how adoption decisions were made.  Those who had previously served on 
Adoption Panels spoke about the huge commitment required in preparing 
for and attending Adoption Panels and the difficult nature of the issues 
being discussed there, for which elected Members, as lay people, were not 
always prepared. Ms Smith advised that it was the court process, not the 
Adoption Panels, which decided which sibling groups were to be split when 
making placements, and such decisions were made only after a full 
assessment had been made. Ms Hammond added that judging which 
families would be better split and which would not was a difficult role, but 
useful research had recently been undertaken into permanency planning. 
She suggested that a report presenting this research be submitted to a 
future meeting of the Panel; 

d) asked what control or regulatory role the County Council had in respect of 
private fostering arrangements, Ms Smith advised that private fostering did 
not involve Independent Fostering Agencies (IFAs) but private families, 
who were required to tell the County Council of a private fostering 
arrangement so the Council could monitor it.  IFAs were part of separate 
fostering arrangements, over which the County Council had no regulatory 
authority. IFAs and the Council’s own in-house fostering service were 
governed by the same fostering regulations, operated to a national 
minimum standard and were inspected by Ofsted; and   

e) a recommendation of the Stocktake was that local authorities share 
information and best practice with each other, to provide a better fostering 
service.       

2. It was RESOLVED that the recommendations of the National Fostering 
Stocktake be noted, with the delivery of the Kent Fostering Business Plan, and 
a report on research into permanency planning be submitted to a future 
meeting of the Panel.  

95. Report on the types of accommodation for Children in Care and Care 
Leavers 
(Item 10)

Mr P Startup, Head of Care Leavers 18 plus Service, was in attendance for this item.

Page 11



1. Ms Smith and Mr Startup introduced the report and, with Ms Hammond, 
responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) accommodation for care leavers was monitored and inspected by the 
County Council, and personal advisors would visit young people regularly 
to see if they had any concerns about their tenancy or any problems with 
their accommodation.  The County Council would always challenge a 
landlord where there were concerns about the maintenance or condition of 
a property;   

b) the reference to ‘residence not known’ on the list of accommodation types 
and the numbers of young people in them referred to young people who 
were missing.  This number included those missing in the short- and long-
term and consisted largely of UASC over 18 who had gone to find family 
elsewhere in the UK within 24 hours of arriving in Kent.  Kent retained 
responsibility for them even if they had taken themselves to another local 
authority area. Other young people who were included in the number were 
those who had chosen not to stay connected to their foster carers once 
they reached an age when they felt able to go where they wanted and do 
what they wanted; 

c) the range of accommodation available was welcomed, and a suggestion 
made that the Panel receive the information on a regular basis, perhaps 
annually;

d) using a combination of in-house and IFAs, Kent was not necessarily able to 
meet all young people’s needs at all times, and the large number of UASC 
who had arrived at the peak of 2015 had meant that IFAs had to be used 
more than they previously had been, and many of these UASC were still in 
the foster placements made at that time. Some placements would have 
been made if Kent was unable to accommodate a child with special needs, 
for example, for which the only local provider might be someone available 
through an IFA. However, Kent accommodated the highest percentage of 
its care population with its own in-house foster carers than any other 
authority in the UK; and

e) the Chairman suggested that the County Council could look at its own 
housing stock or estate to see if some premises might be suitable for use 
to accommodate care leavers. Some premises were used to provide 
training in household management, cooking, etc, for young people who 
were about to leave care. 

2. Mr Startup advised the Panel that the County Council’s new rent guarantor 
scheme had overcome some initial hurdles and was now starting to make progress. 
He had been liaising with letting agencies but some of these had been unused to 
working with a large local authority as guarantor and had initially been hesitant, being 
unfamiliar with the role of a corporate parent. 

3. It was RESOLVED that the information set out in the report and given in 
response to comments and questions be noted, with thanks, and that a regular 
update report be made to the Panel.  

Page 12



Thursday 19th July 2018
Corporate Parenting Panel Update-

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

Talent Showcase and Stigma:

As those of you who came along to our Talent Showcase in June know, a big part of putting this 
event on was to highlight some of the stigmas that children and young people have told us they face 
as a result of being in care or being a care leaver.

Stigma and Stereotypes associated with being in care is a recurring theme that comes up at all 3 
Children in Care Councils (YAC, OCYPC and the Super Council. VSK holds annual achieve ceremonies 
that celebrate the achievements of our young people, these mostly focus on academic 
achievements. We decided to broaden these achievements to include the wider achievements of our 
young people and to put them into a showcase format to demonstrate that this group of young 
people are not being held back by the stigmas around being care and they are living full lives and 
have bright futures ahead of them.

This was the film about Stigma we made with the help of the Children in Care Councils – (show film)

Children in Care Countywide Event – 1st August 18

This is an opportunity to bring all 3 children in Care Councils together and to invite other young 
people to come along and find out about the great work of the councils. We hope this will encourage 
them to join up.

It would be really good if as many of you as possible could come along, we will be doing some 
activities to ask our young people what they think a local authority should be doing to ensure they 
are being a good Corporate Parent. We also have some fun team building games planned!

OCYPC/Super Council Update:

On the 30th May we met with our OCYPC & Super Councils in Margate, Thanet. We had the 
Looked After Children’s Nurses attend to explain who they are and how her team can make the 
health assessments better for the young people. The group gave some really good feedback and 
suggestions that the LAC Nurses can take back as Ideas to the team. The OCYPC and Super 
Council said:

 More Toys in the clinics.  
 Letterbox parcels (given to the young people on the day of their assessment).
 Have more choice in venue? 
 Sweet/treat after the meeting for younger ones
 Progress certificate/ points for progress.

Page 13



 Keep the Meeting Private - not at school for older ones

We also looked at the young person’s section on the new Personal Education Plan and the groups 
came up with some great ideas and suggestions about what questions they would like to be asked 
about their education and how they were doing at school. This information has been fed back to VSK 
and MUI who are incorporating the feedback into this section of the PEP.

Young Adult Council Update:

On the 5th July our Young Adult Council met with Paul Startup, Head of the Care Leaver Service to 
discuss the Local Offer. Paul explained that the Local Offer outlines the services for care leavers 
available within Kent.  It is now a requirement of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 that young 
adults are consulted about this Offer and it is published.  It contains different areas like housing and 
accommodation, managing finances, looking after mental and physical health, making friends and 
developing social relationships, work and education.

Although the new Local Offer contains many things Kent County Council already does it will also set 
out some new ideas.  KCC wants to find out what care leavers think about these ideas.

Paul told YAC that two of the new ideas within the Local Offer are:
- Rent guarantor scheme – an idea that came about from a YAC Challenge Card
- More Apprenticeship opportunities within KCC – YAC this suggestion was really important

The group were then asked to rank nine different possible ideas for the local offer in which each 
team in the 18+ service had looked are different area each. They ranked them from 1 to 9 thinking 
about which ones would help care leavers the most.

1. Promote independent living – financial support (deposit, one month rent and agent fees 
paid plus £2000 setting up home grant).

2. Counselling and support / culturally appropriate mental health support.
3. Financial support for IT equipment for those in higher education / further education.
4. Promote a heathy life style; possible help with gym membership and other costs associated 

with sports activities.
5. Support for young people leaving prison to help them resettle and find suitable 

accommodation – plan support for them 12 weeks before they leave. 
6. A skills programme – CV writing, help with applications, advice with personal statements, 

help managing bills / council tax etc
7. Staying Close – young people who live in KCC properties, supported lodgings and other types 

of placements should have the opportunity to stay in neighbourhood / near people they 
know or have relationships with.

8. DoE award scheme offered to all care leavers – can be beneficial in terms of employment.
9. Drop in centres for care leavers which are starting in July throughout the county.  Initially 

they will be used to encourage care leavers to meet.

Page 14



The young people were also asked to think of a possible new name for the 18+ Leaving Care Service 
as he and his colleagues were unhappy of the suggestion that care is leaving young people. He 
suggested the Adult Support Service. The participation team will consider how this is can be done.

Sense of Belonging Activities: 

Sense of Belonging Activity Days and Residential trips are a project run by fostering to give carers a 
little bit of respite from difficult places that are in danger of breaking down. For the past 5 months I 
have supported the sense of belonging activity days and residentials at Swattenden and Bewl Water. 
the days and residentials have given young people an opportunity to have some fun, try new 
experiences and enjoy the company of other young people. 

The feedback from the activities has been positive with comments like “I met new people and had 
lots of fun!” “it could have improved by staying longer”. Because of my involvement we now have 
new young people that will be joining in with our activity day and the children in care councils. The 
young people attended have said they have found it beneficial having someone like me, younger and 
with some experience of what they are going through very positive so we would like to look at ow 
we can support this project more.

VSK Participation Team Update:

We have a new apprentice Tia joining the team in July, Tia is still in care and a bit younger than the 
rest of the team so we think she will bring a fresh and relevant voice to the team who has been 
through the care system more recently than we have. We are also hoping to take on a bit of an older 
care leaver apprentice soon as soon as employment checks are completed. Once they are trained up 
this will give us a bit more capacity in the team to look at some other workstreams we would like to 
focus on like Mentoring and Buddying young people, which is something we are currently looking 
into. A training course for tis has already been booked for team in September.

We are also doing some joint working with our Early Help colleagues and the young people they 
work with over the Summer to look at devising and delivering Participation and Co Production 
Training to ensure that all children and young people in Kent get a voice and that decision makers in 
the council are aware of the importance of this. We will update you further on this at the next 
meeting.

Summer Activity Days and Events:

 Sunday 22nd July 2018 – Supporting the Adoption Summer Picnic (Aylesford)
 Tuesday 31st July 2018 – DCS Summer Fun Day (Hythe) 
 Wednesday 1st August 2018 – County Wide Children in Care Council Event (Maidstone)
 Thursday 2nd August 2018 – Young Adult Council 
 Friday 3rd August 2018 – Gliding (Challock) 
 Monday 6th August 2018 – Dover Sea Sports (Dover)
 Wednesday 8th August 2018 – Bettshanger Park (Deal)
 Tuesday 14th August 2018 – West Kent Family Fun Day (Aylesford)
 Wednesday 15th August 2018 – Howletts Zoo (Canterbury)

Page 15



 Tuesday 21st August 2018 – Huckleberry Woods (Faversham)
 Wednesday 22nd August 2018 – Bewl Water (Lamberhurst)
 Friday 24th August 2018 – Howletts Zoo (Canterbury) 
 Wednesday 29th August 2018 – Shorne Woods (Gravesend) 
 Friday 31st August 2018 – Care Leaving Service Open Day (Maidstone)

Page 16



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 September 2018

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) update

2. Virtual School Kent (VSK) Awards Day

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
                                   and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
                                      People and Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19th September 2018

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for June 2018 is attached to this report.  

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed to identify and monitor progress 
on a range of areas where improvements in performance and practice will lead 
to better outcomes for children and young people.

1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for June 
2018.  

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Children’s Social Care Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people.

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



3.    Summary of Performance – June 2018

3.1 The report contains key statistics and performance results against the targets 
for 24 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), which are assessed using a 
Red/Amber/Green (RAG) Status.

3.2 Of the 24 KPIs included in the report, the RAG status for June 2018 is as 
follows:

 14 are rated Green – target achieved or exceeded
 10 are rated Amber – below target but above floor standard
 0 are rated Red – below floor standard

3.3 The CIC Scorecard submitted to the previous Corporate Parenting Panel on 
17th July 2018 was for May 2018.  During the period between the two reports 
the RAG status of 1 KPIs changed.  The detail of this change is provided below: 

3.3.1 Percentage of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health 
history.  Performance for this measure improved from 93.9% in May 
2018, to 100.0% in June 2018, achieving the Target of 100.0% and 
moving the RAG rating from Amber to Green.

3.4   For the 10 KPIs rated as Amber an update on performance is provided below.

Five of these KPIs show improved performance between May and June 2018:

3.4.1 Percentage of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same Social 
Worker for the last 12 months.  Performance against this measure 
continues to show improvement, moving from 46.0% in May 2018 to 
48.4% in June.  Performance for one Area, South Kent, remains low at 
29.7% which is a consequence of high rates of maternity leave in that 
Area.  Performance for South Kent has been showing month-on-month 
improvement since March 2018 when it was 23.0%.

3.4.2 Percentage of Initial Health referrals made to Health within 5 days 
of a child/young person coming into care.  Performance for this 
measure improved from 83.9% to 84.8% between May and June 2018.  
Regular meetings continue to be held with Health colleagues to review 
records for children where referrals have not been made in time, with 
the aim of preventing delays in arranging timely health assessments.

3.4.3 Percentage of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 
working days. Performance against this measure improved from 
77.8% to 80.1% between May and June 2018 and continues the trend 
of month-on-month improvements towards the target of 85.0%

3.4.4 Percentage of Returner Interviews completed for CIC.   
Performance improved from 73.9% to 74.1% between May and June 
2018.  This remains some way off from the Target of 85% however this 
target has been set locally, and in the absence of any comparative data 
from any other local authority.  It should also be noted that there are 

Page 20



some issues within the authority’s IT system which is likely to have led 
to an under-reporting of the actual performance figure.  These issues 
are due to be rectified by the software supplier in a future system 
upgrade.

3.4.5 Average caseloads of Social Workers in CIC Teams.  The average 
caseload for social workers in the Children in Care teams reduced from 
17.0 to 15.8 between May and June 2018 and closer to the Target of 
15 cases.

For 2 KPIs performance for June 2018 and May 2018 remained the same.

3.4.6 CIC Placement stability: Percentage with 3 or more placements in 
the last 12 months.  Performance has remained at 11.2%, which is 
above the Target of 10.0%. The Target has been set to be in line with 
the National Average for England for 2016/17.  

3.4.7 CIC Placement stability: Percentage in the same placement for the 
last 2 years.  Performance has remained at 69.1% for the last three 
months, and is close to the Target of 70.0%, which has been set to be 
in line with the National Average for England for 2016/17.

The remaining 3 KPIs showed a decrease in performance between May and
June 2018.

3.4.8 Percentage of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Relatives and 
Friends placements (excluding UASC).   The reduction in 
performance is minimal, from 84.3% in May 2018 to 84.2% in June 
2018 and the variance between the numerator and denominator figures 
for both periods equate to a difference of one child.  

3.4.9 Percentage of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (excluding 
UASC).  Performance for this measure has decreased from 77.4% in 
May 2018, to 76.7% in June 2018.  In June there were 300 children 
and young people that were placed 20 miles or more from home, which 
compares to 297 children in May 2018.

3.4.9 Percentage of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW 
(excluding teams in the Fostering and Adoption services).  The 
number of permanent qualified Social Workers in the CIC Teams 
reduced from 91.1 FTE in May 2018 to 89.4 FTE in June 2018, a 
reduction of 1.7 FTE.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

Page 21



5. Background documents

None

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 22

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Publication Date: 30 July 2018

SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

Jun 2018

Page 23



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has not been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 06/08/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2018 Page 2 of 6

Page 24

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.8% G 1,533 1,551 98% 98.7% G 98.7% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.6% G 4,164 4,355 95% 95.6% G 96.7% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 48.4% A 514 1,062 60% 46.0% A 48.6% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 11.2% A 180 1,605 10% 11.2% A 11.1% A 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.1% A 394 570 70% 69.1% A 69.6% A 70% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 84.2% A 926 1,100 85% 84.3% A 84.2% A
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 76.7% A 986 1,286 80% 77.4% A 76.7% A

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 41.7 1,389    333,045 42.3 41.7 57.8 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,605 1,614 1,389

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,308 1,291

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 73.0% 775 1,062 74.3% 75.7%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 14.3% 25 175 14.2% 16.0%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.8% 45 1,605 2.7% 2.9%

% in P&V placements L SS 6.7% 108 1,605 7.0% 7.8%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.8% 125        1,605 7.7% 6.4%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.5% 232 1,605 14.5% 12.2%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 20 17 20

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 16.0% 62 388 16.9% 16.2%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L SS

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H AC YTD

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 84.8% A 395 466 90% 83.9% A 84.8% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 80.1% A 375 468 85% 77.8% A 80.1% A
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 94.7% G 1,386 1,464 85% 94.9% G 95.3% G 89.4%****

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 92.6% G 1,356 1,464 90% 92.1% G 93.3% G 83.4%****

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 100.0% G 58 58 100% 93.9% A 100.0% G

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 12.9 1,778 138 13.0 13.4

Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 327.9 G 31,802 97 426.0 327.7 G - - 593****

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 112.4 G 10,452 93 121.0 112.4 G - - 190 ***

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO H R12M 16.6% G 99 597 15.0% 17.3% G 16.6% G 14%****

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 88.2% 90 102 87.6% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 87.5% 42 48 86.0% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.4% 54 1,605 3.7% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 3.0% 29 964 3.2% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 4.9% 29 597 5.4% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed for CIC H R12M 89.4% G 1,063 1,189 85% 89.7% G - -
% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 74.1% A 881 1,189 85% 73.9% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 105 112 98

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 30 32 25

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 3 6

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 93.6% G 1,375 1,469 90% 93.6% G - - 92.2%****

Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 65.7% G 965 1,469 65% 66.1% G - - 58.6%****

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 96.8% G 1,471 1,519 90% 97.0% G - -
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 87.4% G 1,456 1,665 85% 87.6% G 90.6%****

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 5.4% 86 1,603 5.6% 8.4%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) ~ H SS 77.8% A 89.4 114.9 85% 79.3% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 15.8 A 1,554 98.4 15.0 17.0 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 56.5 G 1,605 28.4 70.0 56.8 G 48.9 G

* indicates national figures from 2016/17 (LAIT)

** indicates national figures from 2016/17 (DfE Statutory returns)

*** ALB Return 2016/17

**** Statistical First Release 2016/17

~ This percentage is affected by there being a high number of QSW staff on maternity leave as at 30th June

Excluding UASC

Complaints

Jun 2018Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Target for 

18-19

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Last month's result

and RAG Status

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Data not available due to new system implementation

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 06/08/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2018 Page 3 of 6

Page 25



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

0 26 34 60 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 12 52 64

1 14 15 29 Behaviour 10 38 48

2 15 10 25 Communication 9 15 24

3 10 17 27 Consciousness 8 9 17

4 11 15 26 Hand Function 1 1 2

5 14 17 31 Hearing 4 7 11

6 17 21 38 Incontinence 4 8 12

7 14 20 34 Learning 29 48 77

8 29 29 58 Mobility 14 12 26

9 28 46 74 Personal Care 4 7 11

10 42 49 91 Vision 0 4 4

11 35 56 91 Other DDA 8 14 22

12 53 53 106 None 573 848 1421

13 38 68 106

14 52 83 135

15 76 93 169 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 75 153 228 Yes 10 206 216

17 82 195 277 No 621 768 1389

Grand Total 631 974 1605 Grand Total 631 974 1605

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 1 72 73 A1 - White British 531 646 1177

Albanian 12 12 A2 - White Irish 3 2 5

Bangladeshi 1 1 2 A3 - Any other White background 22 50 72

Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1

British 593 724 1317 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 6 7 13

Chad 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 11 21 32

Chinese 1 1 2 B2 - White and Black African 4 8 12

Congolese 1 1 B3 - White and Asian 6 6 12

Czech 5 5 B4 - Any other mixed background 20 9 29

Egyptian 1 9 10 C1 - Indian 4 4

Eritrean 4 54 58 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1 2

Ethiopian 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 4 25 29

German 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2

Ghana 1 1 D2 - African 12 71 83

Guinean 1 1 D3 - Any other Black background 2 1 3

Indian 1 1 E1 - Chinese 1 1 2

Iranian 13 13 E2 - Any other ethnic group 6 121 127

Iraqi 14 14 Grand Total 631 974 1605

Irish 2 3 5

Ivorian 1 1

Kuwaiti 1 1

Latvian 5 1 6

Lithuanian 1 6 7

Nepalese 1 3 4

Nigerian 1 3 4

Not Recorded 1 1

Omani 1 1

Polish 5 5

Portugese 1 1

Sierra Leone 1 1

Slovak 5 11 16

Slovenian 1 3 4

South African 1 1

Spanish 1 1

Sri Lankan 1 1 2

Sudanese 7 7

Syrian 5 5

Turkish 1 1

Vietnamese 4 13 17

Grand Total 631 974 1605

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 30/06/2018

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted more than once in the table

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 06/08/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2018 Page 4 of 6

Page 26



Referrals

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

** An exercise was undertaken to re-open closed cases with care leaver status in 2016 reporting year, therefore, these figures do show an increase

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

Jun
18

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

Jun
18

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months over the last 
5 years*

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

Jun
18

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

850

900

950

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

Jun
13

Sep
13

Dec
13

Mar
14

Jun
14

Sep
14

Dec
14

Mar
15

Jun
15

Sep
15

Dec
15

Mar
16

Jun
16

Sep
16

Dec
16

Mar
17

Jun
17

Sep
17

Dec
17

Mar
18

Jun
18

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 5 years

0

50

100

150

200

250

Jul
15

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Jul
15

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years
SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Apr
18

Jun
18

Care Leavers**
UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Jul
15

Sep
15

Nov
15

Jan
16

Mar
16

May
16

Jul
16

Sep
16

Nov
16

Jan
17

Mar
17

May
17

Jul
17

Sep
17

Nov
17

Jan
18

Mar
18

May
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 06/08/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2018 Page 5 of 6

Page 27



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors June 2018

Multiple Attendance Factors May 2018

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 30/06/2018 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 06/08/2018 CIC Performance Report - Jun 2018 Page 6 of 6

Page 28



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, Children, Young People & Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel, 19th September 2018

Subject: Report on children and young people in Cookham Wood Young 
Offenders Institute (YOI) and Medway Secure Training Centre 
(STC)

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides the members with an overview of the support and 
safeguarding of children and young people in custody, either on 
remand or as part of a sentence.
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
report on the support and safeguarding of children and young people 
in custody. 

1. Introduction

1.1. Corporate Parenting Panel requested a report on the numbers of young people held in 
custody and how their needs are met by the professionals that are involved in their care. 
Services to support young people are provided by agencies within the secure estate 
and by community-based professionals who either see young people in custody or who 
support them on their return to the community.

1.2. The majority of young people in Kent will be placed either in Medway Secure Training 
Centre (STC) or Cookham Wood Young Offenders Institute (YOI). Medway STC houses 
girls aged up to 17 and boys aged 12-15 years and vulnerable boys aged 16-17 years. 
Cookham Wood houses boys aged 15-17 years. Both establishments take young 
people primarily from the South East including London.

1.3. The Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (Section 104) 
introduced the provision that any child remanded to Youth Detention Accommodation 
would be treated as a Looked After Child by the designated Local Authority for the 
period of the remand. Since 2015 this has had the following impact:

CIC Status 
(before or at Remand) 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 Grand Total

At Remand 21 19 10 50
Before Remand 9 9 14 32
Grand Total 30 28 24 82

2. Data

1.1. In 2017/18 in Kent there were twenty young people from Kent who were sentenced to 
custody. Four of these young people received two custodial sentences within the year, 
due to being convicted of old or previous offences whilst in custody. 

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



1.2. The length of sentences imposed were from four months to sixty-two months. Eleven of 
the twenty young people were Kent Looked After Children. One young person was aged 
fifteen at the time of their sentence. All others were either sixteen or seventeen years 
old. 

1.3. In the same time period there were twenty-four young people who were remanded to 
youth detention before their trial. Fourteen of these young people were Kent Looked 
After Children. One young person was aged fourteen, and one aged fifteen. All the 
others were aged sixteen or seventeen years old at the time of their remand.

3. Inspection Reports

1.1. Cookham Wood YOI

1.1.1. Cookham Wood was inspected by Her Majesty’s Chief Inspector of Prisons in August 
2017, and the latest action plan was published in May 2018. The initial report assessed 
the YOI against four criteria: Safety; Respect; Purposeful Activity and Resettlement. The 
report identified areas of concern within all four criteria, and ‘Respect’ was judged to be 
of a good standard.

1.1.2. The action plan published in May 2018 identifies that there is an improvement in how 
violence within the YOI is managed and increases in staffing are planned. It notes that 
there have been improvements in how young people can communicate with 
professionals or can raise concerns within the YOI. 

1.1.3. The exchange of assessments between Youth Offending Teams and Cookham Wood 
has improved through the implementation of a system to share and update Asset+ 
documentation. 

1.1.4. Access to education and training has improved and more young people are able to take 
up the offer of 25 hours of education per week. The YOI is in the process of recruiting 
additional staff in order to be able to provide a full regime at all times. The resettlement 
team is now at full strength which supports a strong focus on the resettlement of young 
people.

1.2. Medway STC

1.2.1. Medway STC was inspected in May 2018 by Ofsted, Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Prisons and the Care Quality Commission. The report noted that the establishment had 
improved in all areas, whilst also acknowledging that there was still work to be done. 

1.2.2. The report identified that the atmosphere within the centre, and the integration of young 
people into a well-run regime, was a positive feature of the changes that had been 
made. The report noted that the relationships between young people and staff were 
‘respectful and meaningful’. 

1.2.3. There are now Social Workers deployed within the Centre which supports a more 
effective approach to safeguarding young people.

1.2.4. It identified that improvements on particular issues or themes, such as self-harm or the 
risk young people pose to others, were evident but still required further implementation 
in order to be assessed as being ‘good’. 

Page 30



1.2.5. The report requested improvements to how the centre communicates with outside 
agencies should safeguarding issues occur and also identified that planning for 
resettlement needed to be considered as early as possible.

2. Support from KCC

2.1. Young people who are placed in custody will all have allocated a Youth Justice worker. 
The young person will be visited within 5 working days, and a planning meeting with 
family and relevant professionals will take place within 15 working days. 

2.2. The Youth Justice worker will be the point of contact for the YOI or STC to ensure that 
the young person has regular contact with family members, significant professionals 
and friends with whom contact has been approved.

2.3. Looked After Children will be supported by both their Social Worker and the Youth 
Justice worker. The two professionals will attend all meetings and plans will be 
coordinated. The focus of the plans will be to support a positive reintegration back into 
the community. The Social Worker continues to undertake statutory visits as they would 
for any Looked After Child. 

2.4. The young person will be allocated a worker within the STC or YOI who will be 
responsible for seeing the young person regularly and passing on any information or 
concerns to the family and professionals. 

2.5. In addition to this, young people have better access to community-based services; Both 
establishments have installed telephones in every young person’s room so that they 
are able to contact approved numbers at any time. This has improved the young 
people’s sense of wellbeing and reduced levels of anxiety.

3. Healthcare and Education

1.1. Both Medway and Cookham Wood have healthcare providers based in the 
establishment. These providers are responsible for services around physical and mental 
health. There are also substance misuse services based inside the centres.
 

1.2. All services are required to liaise with community-based services so that treatment and 
support can continue on release. Each young person has a resettlement plan which will 
detail health needs. 

1.3. Physical health treatment in the community will be arranged through a young person’s 
GP. Support around mental health will be provided by the North East London 
Foundation Trust, who are in contact with in-house services and are part of the 
resettlement planning. 

1.4. Community-based services are reliant on there being effective resettlement planning, 
and suitable accommodation being secured and available in advance of the young 
person’s release. In Kent, no young people were released from custody to unsuitable 
accommodation in 2017/18.

1.5. Young people should receive 25 hours of education per week whilst in custody. This 
includes English and Maths and can be provided at a level to suit the young person’s 
needs. 

Page 31



1.6. There is physical activity available to all young people, and Cookham Wood has an art 
department which has produced pieces of art that have won awards with the Koestler 
Trust. A range of different activities are provided as part of evening sessions on both 
sites. 

1.7. Young people can be given Release on Temporary Licence to attend college interviews 
or participate in community-based learning.

1.8. Resettlement plans will focus on maintaining the skills and learning of young people. 
Resettlement meetings will include the custody-based education providers, and 
representative from Virtual School Kent; the Inclusion and Attendance Service, colleges 
or schools are invited whenever appropriate. 

2. Future Plans 

1.1. Youth Justice and Kent’s Children’s Social Work Services are in discussion with 
Medway and Cookham Wood to develop additional services for young people. These 
include:

i. The recruitment of a Youth Justice apprentice who will support how the service 
hears from young people and ensures that their views are reflected in the work 
done by the service.

ii. Development of a trauma-informed resettlement service. Many young people in 
custody have experienced trauma during their childhood and have not always had 
the opportunity to access services to address this. A trauma-informed approach will 
focus on developing strong, positive relationships with young people so that they 
are confident to engage with other services.

iii. The advocacy service provided by The Young Lives Foundation for Kent Looked 
After Children will be available to all Kent young people in Cookham Wood and 
Medway. 

iv. Both organisations have welcomed recent visits by Louise Fisher, Head of YOS to 
review our safeguarding of Kent Young People. Further visits are planned to 
progress our joint working. 

v. The Care Leavers service now have a dedicated Youth Offending Coordinator, 
working with our 18+ young people.  

2. Participation at Corporate Parenting Panel

2.1. Members had requested that a young person with a history of youth offending should 
attend Corporate Parenting Panel to be able to share their views of the service they 
have received. 

2.2. Youth Justice are in the process of appointing a Youth Justice Apprentice and once they 
have been appointed they will attend Corporate Parenting Panel. The Apprentice will be 
able to talk about their own experiences and represent the experiences of others within 
the criminal justice system.

8. Summary

Page 32



1.1. Young people in custody, including Looked After Children, are experiencing a greater 
level of support from professionals than was previously the case. 

1.2. Both Medway STC and Cookham Wood YOI have been inspected and have received 
positive reports from Inspectors. 

1.3. The ability for young people to report their concerns and for professionals to be involved 
with the young people has improved, which has strengthened the safeguarding of 
children and young people in custody.

Background Documents:

None

Contact details:

Lead Officers
   

Louise Fisher
Head of Kent Youth Justice Service and Head of Service for Early Help (South Kent)
03000 414797
louise.fisher@kent.gov.uk 

Mark Powell
Improvement Manager (Youth Justice), Early Help and Preventative Services
03000 411071
mark.powell@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director

Stuart Collins 
Director of Integrated Children Services, West (Early Help and Preventative Services Lead)
03000 410519
Stuart.Collins@kent.gov.uk

5.     Recommendations:
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the report on the support and 
safeguarding of children and young people in custody. 

Page 33

mailto:mark.powell@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Stuart.Collins@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, Children, Young People 
and Education 

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 September 2018

Subject: ANNUAL REPORT 2017-2018 – ADOPTION SERVICES

Classification: Unrestricted

Summary: This annual report outlines the structure and the work of Kent’s Adoption 
Service during 2017-2018. It provides detailed analysis of the performance of the 
Adoption Service in relation to children’s and adopters’ adoption journeys during this 
time, measured against DfE performance indicators. It describes the nature and use 
of the vast range of support that is available to adopted children and their adoptive 
parents beyond the granting of the adoption order. It also suggests the direction of 
travel in respect of the plans to progress the government’s vision of Regional 
Adoption Agencies. Members also requested information on Kent’s placement of 
sibling groups and some research on this is included.   

1. Introduction 

1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) is committed to ensuring that children are able to 
remain in the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible.  
However, where it is not possible to achieve stability for the child within the birth 
family, we work to achieve alternative permanent arrangements for the child 
within a family setting and these include adoption.   

2. Body of the Report

Section 1: Introduction & Overview
Section 2: Ofsted Inspection Findings 2017
Section 3: Adoption Service
Section 4: The Childs Journey - Adoption Data
Section 5: The Adopter Journey - Adoption Data
Section 6: Post Adoption Activity
Section 7: Commissioned Services  
Section 8: Compliments, Feedback and Complaints
Section 9: Regionalisation
Section 10:            Conclusion
Section 11:            Appendix

Page 35

Agenda Item 10



3. Conclusion

3.1 The annual report demonstrates continued improvements in performance during 
the last financial year. The adoption service has developed a business plan 
which is included as an appendix to the report and this identifies the priorities 
for the current financial year. The service is committed to consolidating areas of 
good practice noted and developing the service in order to be recognised as 
outstanding.

4. Recommendation 

Recommendation: Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE the information contained within the report and COMMENT on the range 
of services provided and their suitability to meet the needs of adoptees and their 
families.

5. Background Documents

5.1 The annual report contains within it links to DfE statutory guidance 2013 and 
national research regarding sibling placements and disruptions.

6. Contact Details

6.1 Lead Officer

Caroline Smith – Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 415091

        caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
        Sarah Hammond
        Director, Integrated Children’s Services East (Social Work)
        03000 411488
         sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 36

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


Kent Adoption Service
Annual Report 

April 2017 - March 2018

Page 37



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Contents

Section 1: Introduction & Overview 3

Section 2: Ofsted Inspection Findings 2017 4

Section 3: Adoption Service 5

Section 4: The Child’s Journey - Adoption Data 12

Section 5: The Adopter Journey - Adoption Data 19

Section 6: Post Adoption Activity 21

Section 7: Commissioned Services 23

Section 8: Compliments, Feedback and Complaints 24

Section 9: Regionalisation 25

Section 10: Conclusion 26

Section 11: Appendix 27

Page 38

s#_Hlk522625597
s#_Hlk522625623
s#_Hlk522625670
s#_Hlk522625837
s#_Hlk522625899
s#_Hlk522626100
s#_Hlk522626131
s#_Hlk522626063
s#_Hlk522625999
s#_Hlk522625952
s#_Hlk522625774


  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 1: Introduction & Overview

Introduction

Kent Adoption Service sits within Children, Young People & Education Directorate. The 
annual report provides an overview of the service, including information regarding its 
structure, service model and delivery. The paper includes performance data and analysis 
against the national adoption scorecard and other local authorities. It also outlines future 
developments underway.

Overview

Purpose and Objectives of the Kent Adoption Service

The work of KCC’s Adoption Service is governed by the Adoption & Children Act 2002, the 
Adoption Agencies Regulations and Guidance 2013, and the Adoption National Minimum 
Standards (Care Standards Act 2000). KCC is committed to ensuring that children can 
remain in the care of their parents and birth families wherever possible. However, where it is 
not possible to achieve stability for the child within the birth family, we work to achieve 
alternative permanent arrangements for the child within a family setting and these include 
adoption.   

The purpose of the adoption service is to provide a comprehensive service to meet the 
needs of children who have been or may become adopted, birth families, and adoptive 
parents.  This will include services in relation to those ‘looked after’ children with an adoption 
plan, and in relation to the non-agency adoption service.

To achieve its aims the adoption service will: 

 Ensure that the needs and wishes, welfare and safety of the child are at the centre of the 
adoption process

 Welcome those people, who are interested in becoming adoptive parents without 
prejudice, respond to them promptly and provide them with clear information about 
recruitment, assessment and approval

 Ensure that services are provided to all involved in adoption that recognises the lifelong 
implications of adoption

 Assess and prepare prospective adopters who can offer children a stable and permanent 
home

 Provide help and support to achieve a successful and lasting placement 

 Monitor children through the process to minimise delay

All those involved in adoption will be treated fairly, openly and with respect throughout the 
adoption process.

Page 39



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 2: Ofsted Inspection Findings 2017
Ofsted rated KCCs’ Children’s Services as ‘good’ following the inspection that they carried 
out in March 2017.  Within the Ofsted inspection, adoption performance is specifically 
assessed, and adoption was rated ‘good, with the quality of post-adoption support identified 
as ‘excellent’. The full report can be accessed here.

Page 40

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/local-authorities/kent


  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 3: Adoption Service
The Adoption Service is led by a Head of Service and has five teams. (structure chart 
attached, Appendix A). It is formed as follows:

 Two Recruitment, Assessment and Support Teams 
 Family Finding Team
 Adoption Panel Management and Quality Assurance Team
 Post Adoption Support Team – working in Partnership with Coram

Recruitment, Assessment and Support Team (RAS) 

In 2012 the government outlined an Action Plan that set out its proposals for tackling delay in 
the adoption system. One of those actions was to radically speed up the adopter 
assessment process so that two months are spent in training and information gathering – a 
pre-qualification phase – followed by four months of full assessment. They introduced a 
“fast-track” process for those who have adopted before or who are foster carers wanting to 
adopt a child in their care.

There are two Recruitment, Assessment and Support Teams in the adoption service which 
has the equivalent of fourteen full time social workers.  The adoption social worker 
undertaking the initial visit remains responsible for the case in stage one. This stage is 
overseen by the social worker’s team manager and their business support assist the social 
worker in issuing and progressing checks and references. There are weekly tracking 
meetings to ensure that each case is progressed in a timely manner and difficulties are 
resolved promptly. The applicants are invited to attend a 3-day preparation course during 
stage one and there is the expectation that they complete self-assessment forms as well as 
e-learning. Stage one is adopter led although the aim is that it takes no longer than two 
months unless there is good reason for this. The managers also identify cases that can be 
progressed more quickly especially if applicants are highly motivated, experienced etc.

Most prospective adopters who enter stage two retain the same social worker to offer 
continuity. They are invited to attend a two-day preparation course during this stage; one of 
the days is facilitated by a therapist with emphasis on attachment and therapeutic parenting. 
This day has been very well received by prospective adopters. Each case is carefully 
tracked and progressed through supervision as well as monthly tracking meetings to ensure 
that there is a timely progression as well as quality assurance. 

K ent A d opt ion S ervic e
Getting it right for children

The two-stage process

Pre-stage 1
(10 days)

Stage 1
(2 months)

ROI 
approval 
(5 days)

Stage 2
(4 months)

You are
here

There can be a break of
up to six months 

between Stage 1 and 2

You can take a break 
before Stage 1

Page 41



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

The DfE Statutory Guidance on Adoption 2013 states that ‘a prospective adopter wishes to 
take a break between stage one and stage two, or an agency recommends such a break, 
this will be subject to a maximum time limit of six months. Six months should be sufficient in 
the clear majority of cases to enable prospective adopters to resolve, for example, a 
housing, employment or financial issue, or to recover from an illness or family bereavement. 
Where this break is longer than six months the prospective adopters will need to restart 
stage one. In these circumstances, agencies should respond within five working days of 
contact from the prospective adopter and offer them a re-entry interview. The stage one plan 
should take into account activities undertaken previously.’

Recruitment Strategy 

Whilst there is a consistent flow of interest from people enquiring about adopting; there is a 
focus in the service on recruiting adopters willing and able to consider adopting children 
aged 3 years of age and older, siblings and children with disabilities/complex needs. This is 
clearly outlined in our literature, on the adoption service website and during adoption 
information events. 

The service focus on its recruitment has led to several developments which include:

 Development of a comprehensive recruitment strategy 
 Re-branding of adoption leaflets 
 Continual development of the adoption service website
 Development of the use of social media, including the creation of a Face Book Page for 

2017/18.
 Bespoke/targeted advertising – the adoption service undertakes bespoke recruitment 

and advertising outside of Kent to recruit adopters to meet the needs of Kent children 
who have complex needs. This has included The Metro and London Evening Standard.  
A recruitment campaign took place in progress for 2017/18 including a press release, a 
bespoke information event for prospective adopters who might be interested in finding 
out more about adopting siblings or children with complex needs and a radio interview 
with approved adopters of siblings.

 Responsive service – it is vital that a responsive and efficient service is provided to 
potential adopters. An Enquiries Adviser post is therefore established to ensure this is 
achieved.  

 Monthly information events - advertised on the Kent Adoption and First4Adoption 
websites; members of the public can attend without booking a place. The attendees 
interested in taking their interest in adoption further can book a home visit at the event to 
explore their interest and suitability further. There is always at least one experienced 
adopter in attendance at the events who shares his/her experience of adoption; this is a 
very popular part of the presentation. 

Non-Agency assessments – This refers to adoption assessments involving families whose 
children are not in the care of the local authority such as Step Parent adoption. As with 
agency adoption assessments the progress of each case is monitored through supervision 
and monthly tracking meetings. There is a transition to a two-phase process so that all 
references and checks are completed in phase one to identify whether there are reasons 
that the adoption order is unlikely to be granted. 

Page 42



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Foster to Adopt Scheme 

A key aim of all those involved in securing permanence for children is to place children in 
their potentially permanent placement at the earliest possible stage. ’Foster to Adopt’ is 
used for babies and children who are in local authority care where the plan is likely to be 
adoption, but who still have a chance of being reunited with their birth family. Most children 
go on to be adopted.  Foster to Adopt protects children from experiencing multiple moves 
within the care system. It provides children with good quality, uninterrupted and consistent 
care whilst detailed assessments of their birth family are completed, and the court decides 
on the plan for the child. Consistent care for the child reduces possible future harm and it 
supports the child in developing healthy attachments.  Babies and children are placed with 
approved adopters who have been assessed and approved as temporary foster carers for 
the child. 

The Foster to Adopt carers provide the day to day care for the child and work with the child’s 
social worker to ensure that the child has all their needs met.  At the same time, the child’s 
social worker will continue working with and assessing the child’s birth parents to see if they 
have made the changes needed to have the child returned to their care. The court will make 
the final decision on the plan for the child. If the decision is that the child should be adopted 
then Foster to Adopt carers can go to an adoption matching panel and if panel agree, will 
become the adopters for the child. Alternatively, if the court decides that the child should be 
returned to their birth family then the child is returned.    

To date there have been 31 Foster to Adopt placements made in Kent, 20 using Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review (England) Regulations 25A (2010) and 11 through 
the Dual Approval Panel which became functional in January 2017. Kent Adoption Service 
subscribes to the Coram Early Permanence Network Scheme Kent provides additional 
training for prospective carers within the stage two assessment process and holds a monthly 
support group for Foster to Adopt carers. The service provides training for social workers 
across Kent and has raised awareness with partner agencies including health, social care, 
Children and Family Court Advisory and Support Service (CAFCASS) and the judiciary.

31 children placed in a foster to adopt placement since September 2014

Page 43



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Family Finding 

The Adoption Service works in partnership with district teams to promote early permanency 
for children; it advocates the benefits of this to achieve the best possible outcomes for 
children. There is a designated Permanency Planning Lead worker (Senior Practitioner) who 
is invited to attend Permanency Planning Meetings (PPMs) across Kent to offer guidance on 
such matters as sibling assessments, identification of potential Foster to Adopt cases, post 
adoption contact options, life story and identity needs, achievable plans, current Kent 
adopters, along with guidance on the adoption process.  This has been successful and there 
has been an increased demand for Family Finding to attend these meetings. Family Finding 
social workers have a central role in supporting relinquishing birth parents and case holding 
the children. 

Robust tracking systems are in place to supports the early identification of children for whom 
the plan is likely to be adoption. This in turn creates early identification of matches and has 
reduced the time taken for children moving to their adoptive placement following a 
Placement Order.  

The Family Finding team also provides guidance on children’s life story books, later life 
letters and direct work to prepare children for transition. 

Sibling assessments – DfE Statutory guidance 2013 states: “Siblings should be adopted by 
the same prospective adopter unless there is good reason why they should not be. Where 
an agency is making a placement decision on two or more children from the same family, it 
should be based on a comprehensive assessment of the quality of the children’s 
relationship, their individual needs and the likely capacity of the prospective adopter to meet 
the needs of all the siblings being placed together. Where it is not possible for the siblings to 
be placed together the agency should consider carefully the need for the children to remain 
in contact with each other and the need for adoption support. Where a placement is sought 
for a child whose sibling(s) have already been adopted, it will be important to consider 
whether it is possible to place the child with the parents who have already adopted the 
sibling(s). It must be recognised however, that this could be placing too great a burden on 
the adoptive parent, and risk destabilising the existing adoptive family.”

Research looking at sibling placements and the implications of adoption on sibling 
relationships is available (Appendix B). Recent research published in the British Journal of 
social work (September 2017) https://academic.oup.com/bjsw/article/47/6/1781/4554334. 
states: “The psychological, inter-personal and ethical implications associated with the 
decision, determined by the state to sustain, disrupt and/or create sibling bonds through 
adoption cannot be underestimated. The obligation and imperative to help ensure that 
adopted children thrive, as best they can, through fulfilling and meaningful sibling 
relationships should, arguably, underpin good social work practice in adoption.” 

Assessment  tools and research are available for Kent social workers to use in relation to 
undertaking a sibling assessment and these sit on the Children’s Services Procedural 
Manual http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/chapters/forms.html#adop. The guidance 
states that when considering the placement of siblings for adoption, either separately or 
together it is important to carry out a full assessment or each individual child as well as an 
assessment of their relationship with each other. The assessment should be based on a 
detailed observation of how the children behave with each other. The observations of people 
who have cared for the children or seen them together at different times and in different 
settings should be gathered. The purpose of a sibling assessment is not purely to inform 
whether siblings should be placed together or not. The focus should be to assess and 
evaluate the relationship between the children. This will then also provide crucial information 

Page 44

https://academic.oup.com/bjsw/article/47/6/1781/4554334
http://kentchildcare.proceduresonline.com/chapters/forms.html#adop


  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

for the prospective adopters on how the children might function together as well as informing 
how they might parent them as a pair but also as individuals. 

The current practice in Kent is that if a sibling assessment identifies the need for children to 
be placed separately in adoptive families, the family finding social worker will seek to find 
adoptive parents who will agree to maintaining direct and indirect contact between the 
siblings, if this is felt to be in their best interests. This usually occurs when it is assessed that 
the children’s combined needs would overwhelm one family or that their needs conflict and 
they need different sorts of families, i.e. a child who has been placed in the role of a young 
carer who now needs 1:1 and the opportunity to be a child or if one of the children has a 
significant disability requiring adopters who have the additional skills to manage health 
needs. The child with additional needs often requires the complete attention of their 
adopters; therefore their sibling may need a separate family, so their needs are not 
overshadowed.

Prospective adopter’s ability and commitment to promoting and maintain contact is 
considered as one of the ‘matching’ considerations for the children. Currently there are many 
families who meet up socially with their children and are committed to ensuring the sibling 
relationship is meaningful. Some of these children have never lived together in the same 
household yet their adoptive families recognise the lifelong importance of sibling bonds. 
Research supports the view that maintaining a sibling relationship is very important for 
children as it contributes to their sense of identity and helps to establish a child’s ability to 
maintain important relationships. The service is aware of many adoptive families, who are 
pro-actively supporting sibling contact not only because they see the benefits for their child, 
but also because they themselves find it a positive experience and indeed the adoptive 
parents regard each other as a support. They often see these new relationships as a 
welcome addition to their family tree and part of making a family through adoption.

Adoption Panel Team 

Two Agency Panel Advisers are employed to support four adoption panels, including a dual 
panel, which considers applicants who wish to be approved as adoptive parents, but also 
wish to be considered as foster to adopt carers. Agency Panel Advisers quality assure and 
provide advice on all cases being presented at panel and then subsequently to the Agency 
Decision Maker (ADM), plus on all requests for ADM’s to agree children’s adoption plans. 
This is regarded as a high priority; performed in a timely, thorough manner and is evidenced 
in writing.  

Panel composition – Each adoption panel is chaired by an Independent chair (non KCC) and 
panel members, both independent and social worker members employed by KCC are 
selected based on their capacity to work cooperatively with each other and professionals 
within the adoption and wider Children in Care Services.  Their performance is monitored 
through annual appraisals. Together they have a combined pool of professional and 
personal knowledge, experience and skills as adopters and adoptees including background 
in adoption and fostering work. Training is provided twice yearly for panel members which is 
well attended.

The Panel Chairs are responsible from completing an annual report and this is shared with 
the ADMs in one of two six monthly meetings held with them. These include a quality 
assurance and scrutiny role of the cases presented. The reports identify issues including the 
quality of adopter’s assessments, child permanency reports, progress on life story work, birth 
relatives’ support and the voice of the child. This feedback from the panels has been used to 
improve services and practice.  

Page 45



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

The ADMs, Head of Adoption, Agency Advisers, Medical Advisers, Panel Chairs have 
regular meetings to review service delivery and discuss issues arising. 

Post Adoption Support Team (PAST)

The Post Adoption Support Team (PAST), developed since 2014 in partnership with Coram, 
is a multi-disciplinary model and is based on a recognition that adopters and adopted 
children require timely skilled clinical and social work expertise in-house. The approach was 
developed in conjunction with adopters and the Tavistock and Portman NHS Trust. It 
consists of a Social Work Team Manager and a Clinical Lead appointed through the 
Tavistock, clinical psychologists, systemic and family psychotherapists, music therapist and 
experienced social workers who are trained in therapeutically informed interventions.

The PAST undertakes post adoption support assessments and then, depending on the 
identified need, can access government funding on behalf of families to support their 
therapeutic needs.  The adoption support fund (ASF) provides funds to local authorities 
(LAs) and regional adoption agencies (RAAs) to pay for essential therapeutic services for 
eligible adoptive and special guardianship order (SGO) families. 

Post Adoption Support Offer 
PAST provides a range of services including individualised support packages and group 
work to adopted children and their families. The interventions provided can help to bring a 
deeper understanding of children and young people’s state of mind, mental health and 
wellbeing; and to support adoptive parents in parenting their children to bring about their 
social and emotional development. 

The range of individual support packages offered include:

 Provision of information, advice and guidance to adopters and professionals through the 
support and advice line.

 If a family require support, a Post Adoption Support Assessment would be undertaken, 
and a support plan would be put in place.

 The team can offer therapeutic parenting sessions as well as systemic family therapy.  
 The can offer family support with a focus on education as well as therapeutic life story 

work. 

The range of group workshops offered include:

 Incredible Years Parenting programme for adopters with children under 9 years. 
 STOP parenting programme for adopters with adolescents 
 The development of a Parenting Programme (ongoing) specifically geared for adoptive 

parents with autistic children was piloted in March 2017 led by a PAST clinician and a 
Kent educational representative. It is an attachment-based course, so it benefits from a 
clinician

 Intensive Adoptive Parent Support Groups (ongoing) - 2 Groups, one in East Kent and 
one in West Kent, facilitated by clinical staff, each running for 8 weeks for 2 hours   

 Learning and Development workshop programme for adopters, and their families – 
(Rolling programme running from September to the following July each year) 

 Adoption service conference focusing on trauma informed therapeutic interventions was 
held on 23rd March 2018 and was attended by 90 adopters, and 96 professionals 
including senior managers, social workers, teachers and educational representatives 

 Adopter mentoring scheme - to support adopters in early placement. Learning is being 
incorporated into the continuous development of the scheme 

Page 46



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

 Young people’s participation group - Strengthening adopted children and young people’s 
voices, developed by a family therapist and senior social worker from PAST, in 
conjunction with Coram ‘Adopters’.

 Younger children’s participation was developed in September 2017.  Since the start the 
group has had 6 successful social events for children.  

 Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender (LGBT) family group developed in November 
2017, supporting children and parents with a supportive group and social activity.  The 
group has met 3 times and will continue to develop

 Parent Led support groups- the team are developing links with parents who feel able to 
lead a support group for adopters in their community.  The plan is that the group leaders 
will then sit as members of the Adoption Advisory Board

National award

During national adoption week, October 2017, the PAST won a national award for Excellence in 
adoption practice. 

Robert Goodwill (Children’s Minister, October 2017) meets members of the Post Adoption Support Team, Coram and adoptive 
parents

Adoption Advisory Board 

The Adoption Advisory Board serves as an advisor and critical friend to the service. The Board 
comprises of adoptive parents, adoption social workers/managers and a Deputy Head Teacher 
from Virtual School Kent (VSK). Members of the group have assisted in a variety of ways 
including presenting at adoption service conferences, creating a PAST leaflet, development & 
implementation of the mentoring scheme and participation on staff interview panels.

A review of the board has been agreed, which will increase the frequency of meetings from 
quarterly to bi-monthly. The Board will have a representative from each part of the adoption 
service and the chair of the board will be a parent.  The leaders of the parent led support groups 
will also be asked to become a member of the adoption advisory board.  The aim is that these 
changes will strengthening the voice of adoptive parents.  

Special Guardianship Support

The PAST provides an advice and consultation service to social workers to support with 
Adoption Support Fund (ASF) applications and advice with support plans for children who 
are the subject of care proceedings. Work has been undertaken to ensure there is an 
integrated response and service delivery to special guardians whose needs are varied. 

Page 47



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 4: The Child’s Journey - Adoption Data 

Indicator 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18

ADM Best Interest Decisions 179 93 111 118 112

Placement Orders 164 79 90 92 86

Matches Approved 172 145 84 89 107

Children Placed 170 143 89 84 107

Adoption Orders Granted 145 182 108 80 104

ADM Best Interest Decisions

Between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018, the ADM agreed the plan for adoption for 112 
children, 5% fewer than in the same period last year (118).

National data produced by the Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) is not available for the most 
recent year, but it indicates that nationally the number of ADM decisions increased by 9.1% 
from 4,750 in 2015/16 to 5,180 in 2016/17. Kent’s numbers also increased over this period. 

Placement Orders

86 Placement Orders were granted in 2017/18 which was six fewer than in 2016/17.  6 of the 
children granted placement orders in 2017/18 were aged 5 or older. None were aged over 7.

Adoption Leadership Board national data shows that placement orders increased by 12% 
from 3,840 in 2015/16 to 4,310 in 2016/17, but that they remained 20% lower than in 
2013/14.

Matches Approved

Between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018, 107 children were matched with an adoptive 
family, 20% more children than in the previous year (89 children). 

Children Placed for Adoption

Between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018, 107 children were placed with an adoptive 
family, 27% more children than in the previous year (84 children).  24 [22%] of the children 
were placed outside Kent (down from 29 [35%] in the previous year).

Of the 104 adoption orders granted, 51 were placed in this 12-month period, with the 
others placed in previous years.

Page 48



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Pre-Order Placement Disruptions

In Kent, 2 of the 107 (1.9%) children placed between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018 
experienced a placement disruption.  (Randall, 2013)1 studied 328 children placed for 
adoption from 2001 to 2011 and found that 12 (3.8%) experienced a placement disruption 
pre-order, with a 95% confidence interval of 1.6% to 5.8%. Kent’s figure is consistent with 
the figure for the Voluntary Adoption Agency used in this research.

Siblings Placed Separately

In the 3 years between Apr 2015 and Mar 2018, there were 117 children placed who 
were part of a sibling group.  87 were aged 0-4 and 30 were aged 5 or over. 10.3% 
of those aged 0-4 were placed separately, whereas 23.3% of those aged 5 or over 
were placed separately.  This means that children aged 5 or over are 126% more 
likely to be placed separately. 

Of the 117 children who were part of a sibling group, 58 were female and 59 were 
male. 10.3% of females were placed separately, whereas 17.0% of males were 
placed separately.  This means that male children are 65% more likely to be placed 
separately.

The number of children in sibling groups that are not placed together is too small to 
make meaningful annual comparisons, as the natural variation is too significant when 
compared to the numbers seen.

Of the 107 children placed in 2017/18, 47 were a part of a sibling group being 
adopted.

 13 of these children were planned to be placed apart from their siblings:
 6 were placed separately, and 
 7 were placed with siblings despite the original plan. 

 There were no children placed apart from their siblings where the plan was to 
place them together.

Children with a Plan that has Changed Away from Adoption

Between 1st April 2017 and 31st March 2018, 28 children’s plans were changed from 
adoption, which was 8 more than in 2016/17 (20 children). 93% of the reversals were 
because of the court not making a placement order.

1 Randall, J. (2013). Failing to settle: a decade of disruptions in a voluntary adoption agency in placements 
made between 2001 and 2011. Adoption & Fostering, 188-199.

Page 49



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Adoption Orders Granted

Source: SFR Local Authority Table LAE1 available at https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-
england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017

104 Adoption Orders were granted in Kent in 2017/18, which was a 30% increase on the 80 
granted in 2016/17 despite a reduction nationally.  This included 2 relinquished babies in 
2017/18 (no placement orders) compared to 4 in the previous year.

The national picture saw a decline in adoptions. There were 4,350 adoptions in 2017/18, 
which was a 7% decrease from 2016/17.  The Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) states there 
has also been an increase in the number of children awaiting adoption.  There were 2,470 
children waiting to be placed on 31st March 2017, which was a 17% increase compared to 
31st March 2016 when there were 2,110 children waiting with a placement order but not yet 
placed with an adoptive family. Nationally, 27% of children waiting at 31st March 2017 had 
been waiting 18 months or more.

In contrast the number waiting in Kent has reduced. 22 children in Kent were waiting with a 
placement order and not yet placed with an adoptive family as of 31st March 2018, compared 
with 38 on 31st March 2017. None had been waiting more than 18 months.

Kent has consistently been amongst the highest local authorities in terms of adoptions 
numbers. In 2016/17, Kent was joint 5th of all authorities in England, but Kent’s 2017/18 
figure would have put Kent second only to Birmingham.2

2 Department for Education (2017). Statistical First Release Local Authority Tables. Online, available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017 
(accessed 23-Jul-2018)

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017


  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Source: Department for Education (2017), Statistical First Release.  Available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-
2016-to-2017 (accessed 20/07/2018)

In 2015/16 Kent was below national and South East averages in terms of the percentage of 
children adopted.  Kent’s percentage of children ceasing to be looked after who were 
adopted is impacted by significant numbers of unaccompanied asylum-seeking children 
(UASC).  In 2016/17 the percentage of children leaving care who were adopted rises from 
6% to 13% when UASC are excluded from the calculation.

In 2017/18, the percentage of children leaving care who were adopted was 17.4% (excluding 
UASC). This would place Kent higher than the England and South East averages for the 
year.

Children Placed Who Are Not Yet Adopted

On 31st March 2018, 56 children were placed for adoption but not yet adopted (55 at the 
same time last year). Most children had been placed less than 6 months (39 children, 70%), 
15 children had been placed between 6 and 12 months, and 2 children had been placed for 
more than 12 months (down from 5 the previous year.)

Children Waiting to be Matched at the End of March 2018

As of 31st March 2018, there were 14 children with a placement order who had not yet been 
matched (down from 31 the previous year); 7 boys and 7 girls.

‘Harder to place’ is defined as a child who is any of the following: 

• 5 years or over,
• BME,
• Disabled, or 
• Part of a sibling group.

7 of these children (50%) had at least 1 hard to place factor, and 3 of the children had more 
than 1 hard to place factor.

Page 51

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017


  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

The group included 4 children aged 5 or over, 1 child from a black or minority ethnic 
background and 5 children being considered as part of a sibling group.

Children without a Placement Order

As at 31st March 2018, there were 28 children with an agency decision for adoption but no 
Placement Order. Only 2 of these children had been waiting 6 months or more for their 
placement order.

Timescales and improvements

Timescale Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Distance 

from target 
2017/18 
(days)

Became Looked After to Initiation of 
Adoption Planning (children with an 

initiation in year)
165.8 142.1 129.7 152.3 +31.3

Initiation of Adoption Planning to Agency 
Decision (children with ADM in year) 33.7 37.3 30.2 32.7 -23.3

Agency Decision to Matching Panel 
(children matched in year) 316.0 153.4 178.6 181.0 -2.0

Placement Order to Matching Decision 
(children matched in year) 248.4 91.0 117.8 122.0 +1.0

Placement Order to Matching Decision 
(children adopted in year) 208.4 218.3 113.5 110.3 -10.7

Became Looked After too Placed for 
Adoption (children placed in year) 550.2 358.7 333.1 340.9 -85.1

Became Looked After too Placed for 
Adoption (children adopted in year) 533.3 485.7 351.4 320.7 -105.3

Page 52



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Became Looked After to Initiation of Adoption Planning

The target time between a child becoming looked after to the adoption plan being initiated is 
121 days (4 months).  For children in Kent with a plan initiated in the year, this time 
increased to an average of 152 days compared to 130 days in the previous year. There have 
been discussions with the Independent Review Officer (IRO) Service regarding the time 
frame.

Initiation of Adoption Planning to Agency Decision

The target time from the adoption plan being initiated to the ADM Best Interest decision is 56 
days (8 weeks).  Kent’s performance on this measure has remained below the 56-day target 
in each of the last 4 years and was achieving an average of 32.7 days in 2017/18.

86.8% of children with an agency decision in the year had a period of less than 8 weeks from 
the adoption plan being initiated to the ADM best Interest decision.

Agency Decision to Matching Panel

The panel should consider a match with an adoptive family within 183 days (6 months) of the 
best Interest decision being made.  Kent’s average time increased by 1% to 181.0 days in 
2017/18 compared to the previous year. Despite this small increase, Kent achieved below 
the 183-day target on this measure.

68% of children with a matching decision in the year had a period of less than 6 months from 
the agency decision to their matching decision.

Placement Order to Matching Decision

The target time from the local authority receiving court authority to place a child for adoption 
(PO) to the approval of a match with an adoptive family is 121 days (4 months) for children 
adopted. In 2017/18 Kent’s figure reduced to 110.3 days, achieving below the 121-day 
target.

Adoption Leadership Board data shows that nationally there was a 22% reduction in 
timescale for this measure from 243 days in 2015/16 to 190 days in 2016/17. Over the same 
period, Kent saw a greater reduction of 48% from 218 to 114 days and has since reduced 
further.

Page 53



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Of the 107 children matched in 2017/18, 54 had at least 1 hard to place factor (a 35% 
increase), with 9 children having more than 1 hard to place factor (a 125% increase).  Of the 
54 children with at least one hard to place factor:

 43 children were matched as part of a sibling group (43% increase), 
 11 of the children matched were aged 5+ (22% increase), 
 9 were from black and minority ethnic backgrounds (12% increase), and
 2 children were disabled (compared to one in the previous year). 

Became Looked After to Being Placed for Adoption

The current DfE threshold for children becoming looked after to placement is 426 days (14 
months) for children that were adopted.  In 2016/17 Kent surpassed this target, with an 
average of 351.4 days. This has further reduced by 8.7% to 320.7 days in 2017/18.

Children are not always placed in the same year as they are adopted.  Timescales for 
children placed in the year provides an indication of more recent performance.  Using this 
measure, Kent has improved by 38% since 2014/15 from 550 days to 341 days in 2017/18, 
which is now 85 days below the target.

Adoption Leadership Board data shows that nationally there was a 13% reduction in 
timescale for this measure from 523 days in 2015/16 to 457 days in 2016/17. Kent saw a 
28% reduction over the same period from 486 days to 351 days and has since seen a further 
reduction.

Placed to Adoption Order Granted

It is the responsibility of the Adoptive parents to apply for the Adoption Order, therefore the 
performance timescales of Adoptive Agencies end at the time the child is placed.  The 
average time from the child being placed to the adoption order granted in 2017/18 was 215 
days.  This was a 13.6% reduction compared to 2016/17, when it was 249 days. 

This improvement is the result of an increased focus from the adoption service over 2017/18 
on closely monitoring the timeliness of the submission of adoption applications to reduce 
delay and provide support where necessary. There is an expectation that the social workers 
prepare the court application early so that it can be submitted after the child has been placed 
for ten weeks, which is the legal timescale for applications to be made. If this is not felt to be 
appropriate the reasons will be discussed in the child’s Looked After Review and if 
necessary support will be provided. 

Page 54



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 5: The Adopter Journey - Adoption Data 

Adopter Activity

Adopter activity Number of families in 
2016/17

Number of families in 
2017/18

Enquiries in year (attended Information event) 261 275

Stage 1 starts in year 90 82

Stage 2 starts in year 74 86

Stage 2 ends in year 50 88

Adoptive families matched in year 54 77

Adoptive families with placements in year 53 77

Adoptive families with adoption orders in year 68 70

Approval timescales

16 of the 88 adoptive families approved in 2016/17 were fast tracked (foster carers and 
repeat adopters).

34 of the 72 adoptive families who were not fast tracked were approved within 6 months of 
registration (47.2%, compared with 29.5% in 2016/17).

75 of the 88 (85.2%) adoptive families that were approved were assessed within the 4-month 
timescale.

Average timescales for newly approved adopters in the 2-stage 
adopter recruitment process (excluding fast tracks) 

Timescale Target 2016/17 2017/18

Enquiry to Stage 1 Start (days) N/A 106 83

Stage 1 Start to Stage 1 End (days) 61 50 63

Stage 1 End to Stage 2 Start (days) N/A 36 51

Stage 2 Starts to Stage 2 End (days) 121 106 88

Stage 1 Start to Stage 2 End (days) N/A 193 202

Enquiry to Stage 2 End (days) N/A 299 284
Source: ALB return 2016/17 & ALB return 2017/18

The average time between enquiry and stage 1 start was 83 days for Kent (down 22% 
compared to 2016/17).

Page 55



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

The target duration for stage 1 (pre-assessment) is 2 months (61 days).  2016/17 figures 
indicate that Kent was just outside this timescale with an average of 63 days.  Stage one is 
adopter led, during this stage we complete checks and references.  The prospective 
adopters also complete their own home learning and attend a three-day preparation course.  
The delays are often because we are waiting for either medicals to be received from the 
applicant’s General Practitioner (GP) or for results from the DBS checks. 

Prospective Adopters can take a break of up to 6 months between stages 1 and 2.  Kent’s 
figures for 2017/18 show that the average time between stage 1 ending and stage 2 starting 
was 51 days.  Kent process if child focus, we will prioritise assessing prospective adopters 
whom are able to provide homes for our harder to place children.  This is part of our 
sufficiency strategy to reduce the time children are waiting for adoptive families and to 
ensure we are approving families that match the needs of Kent children with adoption plans.  
During stage one we will consider prospective adopters who could be a good match for a 
child that is needing an adoptive placement and if we identify strong potential matches we 
will fast track the assessment of the prospective adopters.

The target duration for stage 2 (assessment) is 4 months (121 days).  Kent’s duration 
reduced by 17% to 88 days in 2017/18 from 106 days in 2016/17. This is well within the 
target duration for stage 2.  

The total time between stage 1 start and stage 2 end was 202 days.  The total time from 
enquiry to stage 2 completions in Kent was 284 days.

Adopter gap

The latest data on the Adopter gap indicates that Kent had more Adopters waiting for a 
match than children with a placement order waiting to be matched.  There were 14 children 
with a Placement Order waiting to be matched and 44 adoptive families waiting (adopter gap 
of -30 or -214%).

Kent’s performance has improved despite a negative trend nationally. ALB data indicates 
that nationally the adopter gap had increased to -0.8% in 2016/17 from -46.9% in 2015/16, 
so that there were approximately the same number of adoptive families as children waiting.  
The number of adopters approved fell by 17% between 2015/16 and 2016/17.

Non-Agency Adoptions/Special guardianship Orders

2015-2016 2016-2017 2017-2018
Adoption Orders 43 47 72
SGOs 1 4 4

Page 56



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 6: Post Adoption Activity

Post Adoption Support 

Between 1st April 2017 – 31st March 2018, 294 families requested post adoption support. 
Following assessment, 178 of these requests resulted in the provision of support and 7 
assessments were still being carried out at 31st March. The remainder were signposted to 
other more appropriate sources of support or their request was resolved within the initial 
consultation.

The post adoption support team provided post adoption support to 325 families during the 
year, 92 of which were funded by Kent and 233 funded by another route (such as the 
Adoption Support Fund).

Learning and Development Programme

186 parents from 140 families attended 12 workshops. 

Workshop Title Parents attended
Mental Health 11

Maintaining and managing contact with birth families 4
Autism Spectrum Disorders and 

Attachment 7
Complex Trauma and its Impact on the Child & Family Life: 

How to survive it and thrive 10
Who’s in charge? Negotiating issues of 

control with adopted children 13
Social Media 16

Talking with children about adoption and using life story books 13
Understanding and managing sibling rivalry 14

Who’s in charge? Negotiating issues of 
control with adopted children 10

Weathering the Storm 7
Maintaining and managing contact with birth families 8

Complex Trauma and its Impact on the Child & Family Life: 
How to survive it and thrive 14

Weathering the Storm 19
Talking with children about adoption and using life story books 15

Autism Spectrum Disorders & Attachment 19

Page 57



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Parent/Child Groups 

Group/Programme Title Attendees
Intensive parent support groups x 3 18 parents

Incredible Years programme 8 parents
STOP parenting programme 5 parents

Tuning-In Music Group 8 children
Fast Feet Forward 8 children

Social Events
Two parties were held in 2016/17. 162 (82 adopters and 82 children) people attended the 
Summer Party on 10th July 2016 and 65 adopters and 71 children attended the Christmas 
party on 4th December 2017. These are regarded as being an excellent opportunity for 
adopted children and adoptive parents to meet others who have similar experiences and 
they facilitate informal support networks. 

Page 58



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 7: Commissioned Services

KCC commission Coram in a contracted partnership with Kent and have been commissioned 
to help further develop Post Adoption Support Team and its multi-disciplinary model in 
2017/18. The team developed between Kent and Coram focuses on timely assessments and 
interventions undertaken primarily ‘in house’ unless the children and their family reside 
outside of the Kent area and therefore a more localised service is required or if their 
requirements cannot be met within the PAST. Funding for services is accessed through the 
Adoption Support Fund.

KCC commissions through a contract Barnardo’s (CAFIS: Connecting Adoptive Families 
Independent Services) for Independent Adoption and SGO Support Services.  This includes 
a range of services covering: independent support for birth parents; contact both direct and 
indirect via letter box; access to birth records and intermediary services for adult adoptees.

Page 59



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 8: Compliments, Feedback and Complaints
Most concerns or issues raised in relation to the service provided by the Adoption Service 
are resolved through a problem-solving approach within the service and the service aims to 
respond quickly and with sensitivity. If, however, concerns remain unresolved KCC has a 
comprehensive complaints procedure.  During 2017-18 the Adoption Service received two 
formal complaints. The learning from these complaints is gathered and shared across the 
service and with colleagues within the Corporate Parenting division.

There are several forums for receiving feedback outlined below and some comments which 
are used to inform and improve practice and service delivery.

 Adopters’ views at the time they attend the adoption panel for approval and a match
 The views of others who attend the adoption panel including social workers from Kent 

and other adoption agencies if placing the child via inter-agency route
 Adopters’ views after they have adopted - an ‘after adoption’ feedback form is sent to 

each family after the adoption order is granted
 Panel members attending panel training
 Adopters attending the preparation training 
 Adopters attending the Post Adoption Support Team Learning & Development training. 

(report attached Appendix C)

Page 60



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 9: Regionalisation 
Regionalisation Agenda

In June 2015 the government published a paper setting out proposals to move to regional 
adoption agencies. It stated the government believed they will help: speed up matching and 
markedly improve the life chances of neglected and damaged children; improve adopter 
recruitment and adoption support; and reduce costs. The paper stated the government’s 
intention that by the end of this parliament, all local authorities would be part of regional 
agencies. Since the policy was introduced there has been a general election and changes 
within the government, but the policy remains unchanged. 

Kent is working with London Borough of Bexley & Medway Local Authorities with a view to 
developing a Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) model. All three local authorities presented to 
their respective Cabinet Committees in September 2016 and a year later, at which there was 
agreement to progress the plans to develop a RAA.  An Executive Board is established 
under which sits an Operational Board to ensure progression to closer partnership working 
with a view to forming a RAA. 

Currently an Independent Consultant has been commissioned by the three local authorities 
to undertake a piece of work reviewing the benefits for children of progressing towards an 
RAA and the financial implications. The findings of this review will be shared with the 
Corporate Parenting Panel once completed.

Page 61



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 10: Conclusion
The adoption service produced some good outcomes during 2017-2018 and the 
management team are committed to ensuring the service continues to improve with the aim 
being that the service is recognised as being an excellent service. The management team 
have identified priorities for the coming year which are outlined in the Business Plan for 
2018-2019 and this will be periodically reviewed to ensure changes or emerging needs are 
addressed. (Appendix D) 
Sarah Skinner
Head of Adoption
Kent Adoption Service
June 2018

Page 62



  Adoption Service Annual Report April 2017 to March 2018
                          Making Kent a County that works for all children

Section 11: Appendix
Appendix A

  
Adoption Service 

Structure Chart.docx

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86230/Adoption%20Service%20Structure%20Chart.pdf

Appendix B

Sibling 
Relationships.pdf

Siblings-Together-o
r-Apart-Practice-Paper.compressed.pdf

Sibling Assessment 
Template.docx

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86231/Sibling%20Relationships.pdf

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86232/Siblings%20Together%20or%20Apart.pdf

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86233/Sibling%20Assessment%20Template.pdf

Appendix C

Post Adoption – Feedback from adopters – impact & evaluation 2017-18

Evaluation of 
feedback on L&D Programme 2017-18.docx

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86234/Evaluation%20of%20Feedback%20on%20LD.pdf

Appendix D

Kent County Council Adoption Service Business Plan 2018/19

Adoption Service 
Business Plan 2018 2019.docx

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86235/Adoption%20Service%20Business%20Plan.pdf

Page 63

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86230/Adoption%20Service%20Structure%20Chart.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86231/Sibling%20Relationships.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86232/Siblings%20Together%20or%20Apart.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86233/Sibling%20Assessment%20Template.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86234/Evaluation%20of%20Feedback%20on%20LD.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s86235/Adoption%20Service%20Business%20Plan.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, Children, Young People & 
Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 

Subject: Review of the 18 Plus Care Leavers Service 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report is at the request of Members to have an update and 
review of the Corporate Parenting provision for Kent Care Leavers. 
It provides Members with a detailed overview of the Kent County 
Council 18 Plus Care Leavers Service and future development. The 
report includes the statutory requirements and implementation of 
the Children and Social Work Act 2017. 

The Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the proposed 
structure of the 18plus Care Leaving Service to meet the increasing 
demand of Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children transitioning 
into the Service and the progress to date. 

1. Introduction

1.1.  This report is to update Members on the resources available to deliver the 18+ Care 
Leavers Service Business Plan 2018-2021. 

1.2. The Service is going through a period of expansion following the recent guidance 
within the Children and Social Work Act 2017, which was implemented from 1st April 
2018. The major change was the extension of support to Care Leavers up until the 
age of 25 years (formerly 21 years).  

1.3. To meet the requirements of this Act, agreement has been given to increase the 
number of Personal Advisors (PA) within the Service, to meet the needs and 
statutory requirements of a projected increase in Care Leavers. 

1.4.  The Head of Service, Paul Startup, has worked to ensure there is a permanent 
stable team of first line Team Managers across the service, as previously a high 
percentage of staff were Locum managers. All Team Managers are now permanent 
members of staff. The service is continuing to recruit a permanent workforce of 
Personal Advisors (PA’s). 

1.5. The 18+ Care Leaving Service provides all statutory duties, as prescribed in the 
Children’s (Leaving Care) Act 2000, to Kent care leavers, aged 18-25 years. The 

Page 65

Agenda Item 11



Service provides care leaving services to both asylum and citizen young people, with 
no differentiation in the level of service provided to these two cohorts. 

1.6.  The 18+ Care Leaving Service also currently manages an accommodation provision 
which provides housing options for young people aged 16 to 21 years of age. This 
service works with the twelve district councils to ensure there are processes in place 
for Care Leavers to access appropriate housing. 

2. Policy framework and legal implications

2.1.  This paper has taken account of The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations, 
Volume 3: planning transition to adulthood for Care Leavers 2010 and its revision in 
January 2015. This legislation sets out the expectations of local authorities and 
their statutory responsibilities.

2.2 The Care Leaver Service is an Ofsted limiting judgement and therefore, if the 
service is found to be inadequate, the service provision to children and young 
people by social care will not meet minimum overall requirements. Ofsted has 
expectations of care leaving services and these are outlined in their inspection 
reports. Case law has also outlined the local authority responsibilities to ensure that 
pathway plans are overseen by qualified Social Workers (SW), whilst stopping short 
of expecting services to be delivered by SWs.

3.   Current structure

3.1 There is a Head of Service responsible for the Kent Care Leaver 18+ Service 
reporting to the Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting. There are two recently 
appointed Service Managers who are responsible for Transition and 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking young people (UASC) respectively.

3.2 The service is split into North West and South East areas, with bases at Worrall 
House, Kings Hill and Thistley Hill in Dover. The North West area has five teams, 
each led by a Team Manager and includes a Senior Personal Advisor (SPA) and 
seven Personal Advisor (PA) posts.

3.3    The teams are currently set up on basic principles:

 PAs hold caseloads of 25 young adults

 SPAs hold caseloads of 20 young adults and support the Team Manager by 
holding practice sessions; inducting and training new staff and holding the more 
complex cases

   SWs hold 15 complex cases and case work related to immigration issues; they are 
supervised by the Service Manager (UASC)

3.4  The numbers of PAs are being continuously reviewed to take account of the 
significant increases in the numbers of young people who are reaching the age of 

Page 66



18 in the next two years and those that are choosing to remain open to the service 
after reaching 21. 

4  Statistical overview of our care leavers population

Total number of young people supported by the 18+ 
Care Leaving Service as at 17/08/18

UASC Citizen Total
884 645 1529

5  Progress update over the last 12 months

Staffing and Team Case Loads

5.1 The additional investment given to the 18+ Care Leavers Service has enabled the 
appointment of two Service Managers. One of the posts covers our UASC 
population and the other leads on transition. 

5.2 We have been able to reduce our required Social Worker capacity from five to three 
by bringing the Social Workers together under one line manager. The Social 
Workers will be line managed by the Service Manager (UASC) and will focus on the 
completion of Human Rights Assessments and Age Assessments for our 
unaccompanied minors.

5.3 By reducing our required Social worker capacity, we have created the option of 
having two Participation & Engagement PAs for the service. These PAs would be 
used to creatively target our most hard to engage Care Leavers, seeking to engage 
them in positive meaningful activity. These posts would be managed by the Service 
Manager (Transition) and we hope to have them in post by October 2018, as a pilot 
scheme initially with Locum staff, with key targets and deliverables attached to the 
posts.

5.4 These newly created posts will work alongside our two dedicated Education, 
Employment and Training workers and form a larger team managed by the Service 
Manager (Transition). This is an exciting development, as it brings together a 
resource to target our remaining cohort of Care Leavers, some 35% who are not in 
Education, Employment or Training (NEET). The Service has made great 
improvements in our NEET figures over the last couple of years, but we are left with 
a significant cohort that are harder to engage and we plan to address this. The 
figures for those in Education, Employment or Training have improved from 59.3% in 
January 2017 to the current position of 66%.

5.5.  There has been additional investment in each of the nine teams across the service. 
Our need to meet the requirements of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 led to 
a review of the numbers of PAs required to meet the projected increase in the 
number of Care Leavers who need a service. The capacity of each team has been 
increased from five PAs per team up to a maximum of seven PAs per team. Each 
team has a Team Manager and a SPA. We are currently recruiting up to capacity in 
each team as our Care Leaver numbers increase. At the point this report is written 
we have six vacant posts across the service. These are kept vacant until we need to 
fill each post as our numbers increase through 2018/2019.  

Page 67



5.6. Over the last six months we have been successful in recruiting a fully permanent 
Team Manager cohort, having gone from a position of having seven of the nine 
Team Manager posts filled by Locum Managers. Several of the Locum Managers 
have converted to permanent Team Managers. We have also recruited new PAs and 
we currently have only a handful of Locum PAs within the Service. 

5.7. Our Accommodation Team are also undergoing some changes. There is a wider 
corporate strategy to have a single placement service. The semi-independent 
provision used by the 18+ service will transition to the Total Placement Service 
(TPS). The current timetable for this is set for a move across during 
October/November 2018. Thereafter consideration will be given to the other 
accommodation options held within the service to move across.  

5.8.  Each PA will have a desired maximum allocation of cases up to 25 and each SPA 
will have a desired maximum caseload of 20 cases. This is important to allow each 
allocated worker the time and capacity to fulfil the responsibilities we have towards 
our Care Leavers in terms of ensuring each has an updated Pathway Plan, are 
visited regularly, are in suitable accommodation and are in employment, education 
or training.

5.9.  When the service is at full capacity, we would have 1755 open cases. At the time of 
writing this report (August 2018) the service had 1529 open cases. It is projected 
that these numbers will increase by 197 before the end of the financial year. The 
current staffing strategy and agreed additional investment should support the 
numbers coming through.

6.   Performance  

6.1.  Performance has remained strong across the 4 Key Performance Indicators.

 We are required to keep in touch with our Care Leavers and record that we have 
done so every 6 weeks as a minimum. Our current performance is Green and 
above our target of 85%. We are currently in touch with 87.4% of our Care 
Leavers. Those we are not in touch with are either missing or the harder to engage 
cohort. A high percentage of those that are missing are unaccompanied asylum 
young people that went missing almost immediately upon their entry into Kent.  

 We are required to ensure that 90% of our Care Leavers are in suitable 
accommodation. We currently have 94% of our Care Leavers in suitable 
accommodation. Those who are not in suitable accommodation mostly consist of 
those who are in custody. 

 We work hard to ensure our Care Leavers are in Education,Ttraining or 
Employment. We have improved this area considerably over recent years and have 
plans (previously outlined) to improve this further. We are still meeting our target of 
65%, with a current performance of 66%.

 We are also required to ensure that our Care Leavers have updated Pathway 
Plans.  Our target is to have an updated plan every 6 months and we need to 

Page 68



achieve 90% of the plans being updated.  Currently we have a figure of 97% of our 
Pathway Plans being updated within this timescale.

7.   New Developments and Initiatives

7.1 Development of a 14-25 strategy to support care leavers. We recognise that to 
achieve our ambitions for care leavers, we need to use the three drivers of 
improvement to make progress against key issues that our care leavers raised 
during consultation events: 

 Not being adequately prepared or supported to deal with the challenges of living 
independently 

 Barriers accessing education, employment and training 

 Lack of stability, safety and security 

 Difficulties in accessing the health support they need, help to maintain their 
emotional health and well-being; and problems achieving financial stability 

7.2 The appointment of our Service Manager (Transitions) has enabled us to take some 
initiative in workings with colleagues in Kent and other partners to develop a strategy 
that begins to address the critical importance of improved planning for our future 
Care Leavers at an earlier stage than we currently do.

  
7.3    Lifelong Links Project

We are planning to identify five young people who might be suitable for a pilot 
project that follows the principle of Lifelong Links and can enable our Care Leavers 
to develop a wider secure network of support as they transition into adulthood. 

7.4   Transition to 18+ and allocating PA at 17.5 years
We have worked with our colleagues in the Children in Care Service to agree a 
transition protocol, whereby the 18 plus Care Leavers will offer to undertake 
transition work with the Children in Care Social Worker after the young person has 
reached 17, to improve the transition pathway for our Care Leavers.

7.5   Work around missing YPs
We will ensure that we have a comprehensive overview of risk within the service, 
including risk management screening and risk management. All our missing Care 
Leavers will fall under the strategic oversight of our Service Manager (UASC) who 
will have regular liaison and meetings with the Home Office. We will ensure that all 
missing Care Leavers have appropriate plans in place.

7.6    Community Migration Fund (CMF) posts
The underlying principle of the CMF is that it responds to the needs of the 
community, as identified by the local authority, where these have been brought 
about by the impact of recent migration. Any local authority proposal to mitigate the 
impact of recent migration must evidence this issue, and include evidence of the 
impacts on, or the views of, the wider local community. Kent has secured funding for 
several posts, these include a Benefits Advisor (in post); a Mental Health Worker 

Page 69



(coming into post later in the month of August); Custody Worker (advert out, 
currently a temporary worker in post).

7.7    Drop-ins
The formulation of a structured “drop in” service seeks to meet young people on their 
terms. It is recognised that, for some, disassociation from societal norms has been a 
factor in their care history and that formalised, structured and enforced activity might 
lead to further alienation. The introduction of an informal drop in service provides a 
transitional “taster” of our services whilst maintaining some level of engagement. It 
will also provide a stepping stone to more formalised and structured work 
programmes.

The “drop in” service will deliver constructive activities in a welcoming and safe 
environment. Utilising effective partnerships and role models the service will tackle 
issues of exclusion, isolation, challenging behaviour and disengagement.

The key aims of the drop-in service are:

 To offer networking opportunities for young people
 To provide access to advice for education and careers for those who are NEET
 To maintain constructive contact with those isolated/vulnerable CLA/Care 

Leavers
 To promote re-engagement with care services

We have started our Drop-ins in the following areas:

The Sunlight Centre KCC Info Zone
105 Richmond Road 3 Palace Avenue
Gillingham Maidstone
Kent Kent
ME7 1LX ME26 6NF

We will be starting Drop-ins at these locations shortly.

 Shepway Youth Hub in Folkestone 
 Quarter Deck in Margate 
 Linwood Centre in Deal 
 Concorde in Ramsgate  

7.8    Care Leavers in custody
“Ensure that all care leavers in prison or secure training centres have purposeful 
visits and an up-to-date pathway plan.” 
 
This a required action for us following the Ofsted inspection in 2017. We have 
achieved significant progress with our Care Leavers in custody. 

 We have contacted every single prison where we have a care leaver in custody. 
This has helped us establish contacts and develop the links with each prison. 
This has been particularly successful with HMP Elmley 

Page 70



 We are close to finishing an analysis of where each asylum seeker care leaver in 
custody are housed, and we plan to roll out community projects. We have 
mapped out demographics, NEET figures and gang related areas

 We have set up monthly case discussions with HMP Elmley. This will mean that 
we keep up to date with cases and hopefully this is something that we can look to 
roll out to other prisons

 We have also set up contacts in HMP Rochester, Feltham and Cookham Wood

 We have audited all our Care Leavers and ensured that each Care Leaver has 
an up to date Pathway Plan

8. Rent Guarantor Scheme

8.1.  A challenge was issued by the Young Adult Council (YAC) in June 2017 ‘if a young 
person over school leaving age decided to be fully independent and work full time 
paying their own rent, would KCC as a 'Corporate Parent' act as the young person's 
guarantor?  It was agreed at Corporate Parenting panel on 22nd March 2018 that 
KCC could act in the role of guarantor for our Care Leavers and that the proposal for 
a pilot scheme would be progressed.  

8.2. The Care Leavers Service began a 12-month pilot starting on 1st July 2018 and this 
will accept applications from all eligible Care Leavers to a maximum of 25 young 
people. Due to the potential financial risks involved in the pilot to KCC and 
considering the learning from Devon County Council, we are starting the pilot on a 
small scale, to minimise the risks. The aim will be to build the scheme in subsequent 
years, to be accessed by a larger cohort of young people and let the learning 
underpin a wider policy change in 2019.  

8.3. At the point of writing this report we have 3 successful applications that have 
progressed. We have other applications pending; however we are experiencing 
some difficulties with landlords and letting agencies who are used to dealing with 
individuals and companies as rent guarantors, and we as KCC are not either of 
these. We hope to work with agents and landlords to get them on board and hope to 
dedicate a specific resource to this after the changes to the Accommodation Team 
have been completed.

9. Local Offer

9.1 All local authorities have a legal obligation to support young people making the 
transition from care to independence. It is KCC’s responsibility to ensure that our 
Care Leavers know what services are available to them and what they can expect to 
receive whilst in care and as Care Leavers. The requirement of the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017 is to publish the Local Offer in December 2018. 

9.2 Our offer for Care Leavers has the objective to clearly provide a single document 

Page 71



outlining entitlements and expectations. Kent’s Local Offer is being completed in 
consultation with the Young Adult Council (YAC) and will be presented to Cabinet 
Committee in November 2018, ready for publication in December 2018. 

10.   Conclusion

10.1 This paper sets out the proposal for the restructuring of the Care Leaving Service to 
provide 18+ care leavers with increased resource to manage and support the 
transfer of UASC into the service.

10.2. The proposed restructure is necessary for the service to meet its statutory 
requirements under The Children and Social Work Act 2017. Future commitments 
with the increasing demand for the service, will be planned in the 2019/2020 budget 
build.

 
11.     Equality Implications

11.1 There are no equality implications associated with this report, but if any equality 
implications are identified as work on the development of the Service progresses, 
an Equality Impact Assessment will be completed.

12.     Recommendation

13.     Background Documents

None

14.     Contact Details

 Lead Officer
  Caroline Smith

Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting 
Children’s Social Work Services
03000 415091 
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director, Integrated Children’s Services East (Social Work Lead)
03000 411488
Sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

12.1   Recommendation:   Corporate Parenting Panel is asked to NOTE the proposed 
structure of the 18plus Care Leaving Service to meet the increasing demand of 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children transitioning into the Service and the 
progress to date. 

Page 72

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1 Total No. of Teams for Total Workload of 1,317 as at 31.03.17 = 8.3 teams

P
age 73



Appendix 2 – Total No. of Teams for Total Workload of 1,434 as at 31.03.18 = 9 teams

P
age 74


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 19 July 2018
	OCYPC update - 19 JUL 18

	7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	Item 8 Appx - CIC Performance Report

	9 Report on children and young people in Cookham Wood Young Offenders Institute (YOI) and Medway Secure Training Centre (STC)
	10 Annual Report 2017 to 2018 - Adoption Services
	Item 10 Appx - Kent Adoption Service Annual Report 2017-2018

	11 Review of the 18 Plus Care Leavers Service

